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Introduction

The Directors present their strategic report of IRIS Debtco Ltd {“the Company"), and the consolidated
group of companies (together “the Group™} for the year ended 30 April 2023. IRIS Debtco Ltd is the
parent company of the IRIS Group. The Company was incarporated in the UK as a company limited
by shares on 18 May 2018.

IRIS provides software solutions and services for finance, HR and payroll teams, educational
organisations and accountancy firms that helps thern comply with regulations, drive productivity and
better engage with key stakeholders.

Ownership

On 6 September 2018, the Group was acquired by a joint investment of Hg Capital's Saturn Fund and
Intermediate Capital Group (ICG), with Hg being the majority shareholder.

Founded in 2000, Hg is a leading investor in European and transatlantic software and business
services. Hg's focus is on building transatlantic champions that provide critical services for many
thousands of businesses globally. Hg's purpose is to invest in the future — helping to progress
workplace automation and digitisation trends still in early stages of adoption, set to transform the
workplace for professionals over decades to come. Hg Capital has been a long-term investor in IRIS,
first investing in 2004. The Hg Saturn 1 Fund focuses on software businesses with enterprise values
of more than $1.7 billion.

Founded in 1988, ICG is a giobal alternative asset manager focused on creating sustainable value by
partnering with ambitious businesses.

Business Overview and Business Model

Our mission i Our vision

To be the most trusted provider of mission Ensuring our customers get it right, first
critical software and services time, every time

IRIS is one of the largest privately owned software companies in the UK, providing businesses with
mission-critical operational software and services designed to work first time, évery time. We started
45 years ago, focussing on accountancy software and have evolved during that time and are now
relied on by more than 100,000 customers across 135 countries in accountancy, education and
business. Accountants are at the centre of everything IRIS stands for. Our evolving best-in-class
software solutions help our customers manage compliance complexity. We help organisations to
make better business decisions by developing integrated software solutions to minimise admin, make
business processes more efficient and give more time to do what's valued. Accountants, schools, and
teams in payroll, HR and finance use our software and services to solve some of the most important
operational business problems. These include the need to remain compliant with the law, drastically
reduce time spent on administration and reporting; and generating actionable data insights to make
better business decisions. Through simplifying and automating processes and providing insights on
everyday mission-critical tasks for organisations of afl shapes and sizes, we ensure our customers are
able to focus on the work they love and look forward with certainty and confidence.

The Group is led by an Executive Committee made up of key leaders across Sales, Product,
Technology, Marketing, Operations, Finance & Legal, Human Resources, and Corporate
Development to drive better alignment and acceleration of performance across all areas of the
business. Whilst the primary focus of the business is at a functional level, we also have sector specific
leaders (Accountancy, Education, HCM, Americas) to ensure we remain agile, dynamic and
responsive to the ever-changing needs of our customers.
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With dedicated software solutions and services for finance, HR and payroll teams, accountancy firms
and educational organisations, our award-winning praducts are the invisible, but essential,
infrastructure of oyr customers' businesses. For more than 40 years, we have supplied innovative
administrative solutions to businesses, charities and the public sector. IRIS' software solutions are
managed under a number of leading product brands:
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Revenue Generation

Qur revenue is primarily generated through provision of software and services to end customers.
Software services are principally provided through recurring maintenance or subscription, both
through cioud/Software as a Service ("SaaS”) applications and on-premise solutions. Cloud-based
solutions are becoming more desirable for businesses. We recognise this and continue to develop
and invest in a comprehensive range of Cloud applications using the latest computing technology to
drive improved productivity and efficiency for customers. 57% of our software revenue during 2023
was derived from cloud-based products {2022: 50%), a proportion that is growing rapidly. Contract
lengths range from manthly rolting for certain solutions, through to multi-year arrangements.

Alongside subscription services, we provide implementation, managed payrofi, and consuitancy
services, including specialist HR advice.

{n addition, transactional engagement services are offered through provision of SMS and payment
platfarms to allow schools and parents to better communicate and transact with each other.
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Adding Value

By understanding the needs of our customers, we focus on delivering what our customers want
through continued development of existing products and solutions, as well as acquisition of new
products. Our customers are able to access a wide choice of modules and functionality that are not
offered by our competitors. This has ail been possible with the investment in highly skilled and
experienced employees and teams who are able to deliver these mission-critical software solutions
designed to meet the needs of customers. A strong cuiture and responsible leadership has enabled
the business to grow and develop sustainably, giving customers confidence in IRIS as a strategic
partner.

Why Customers Choose IRIS

Our trusted position and specialist knowledge allows us to drive the adoption of new functionality and
modules to existing customers and our broad product offering is attractive {o new customers. With our
increased investment in Cloud technelogies we remain well positioned to continue this growth
strategy for many years to come.

Our scale allows us to invest in state-of-the-art infrastructure, including Cioud IT and related analytics.
This investment in technofogy and development means that customers can rely upon IRIS to
consistently deliver regulatory updates alongside enhanced products and services.

The Group also continues to identify opportunities to expand both domestically and internationally
where we ¢an apply our expertise in compliance-driven software and services, to ensure we can give
our customers the best support on their own growth journeys.

Group Values

Our business success is underpinned by our Group Values - created by employees to support our
vision, mission and culture and designed to make an IMPACT.
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Business Activity

Key highlights
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Our award-winning products are used by more than 100,000 organisations, ranging from micro-
businesses to FTSE 100 companies — the majority having a tenure of five or more years. IRIS payrofl,
accounting and finance software is used globally - being operated in over 135 countries. Five million
employees are using our payroll and HR software, with 1 in 6 people in the UK being paid through our
payroll solutions. We are the largest third-party online filers cof taxes with the UK Government. 300
million messages are delivered annually between schools and parents, with 500,000 pupils’ activity
being processed by us. More than 21,000 UK and 4,000 US accountancy practices use RIS software,
including 91 of the top 100 UK accountancy firms and 54 of the top 100 US certified public accounting
(CPA} firms.

We are delighted with the continued recognition we receive for our products and services and are
elated to have received many awards for our effective and successful business solutions provided to
our customers. During the year, we won a number of awards, including:

e Bett Awards 2023 {Company of the Year)

¢ National MAT Awards 2023 (Company of the Year)

¢ UK Tech Awards 2022 {Tech Company of the Year)

* Thames Valley Tech Awards 2022 (Tech Employer of the Year)

¢ K2 Enterprises Awards 2022 * IRIS Americas (Prime Award, Technical Support Award and
Small CPA Firm Solution Award)

* Globat Payrolt Awards 2022 (Payroll Manager of the Year)

«  Vuzion Cloud Awards 2022 (UK Azure Partner of the Year)

We are proud that our acceolades also extend beyond our products. We were thrilled to be awarded
the prestigious accolade of A Great Place to Work™ for the third year running in November 2022. In
addition, we have also been recognised as:
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» one of the UK's Best Workplaces Super Large (1.000+ employees) in 2023;
» one of the UK's Best Workplaces for Women in 2023 {ranked #30Q);

« one of the UK's Best Workplaces for Wellbeing in 2023 (ranked #42); and

» ranked ninth in the 'Super Large’ UK's Best Workplaces in Tech in 2022

We are also proud of the numerous diversity and inclusion accreditations we have received, from
being named a Stonewall Diversity Champion, signing The Race at Work Charter from The Prince's
Responsible Business Network, to being a Disability Canfident Committed Employer. We are also
proud to have:

» been featured in 'Top 100 Businesses Enabling Entrepreneurship 2023’ list by The
Independent )

+ been featured in 100 Best Companies to Work for in the South East’ list by The Business
Magazine

« been featured in 10 Innovative Tech Companies in the Thames Valley 2023’ list by The
Businiess Magazine

« our CEQ, Elona Mortimer-Zhika, featured in kgnition's Top 50 Women in Accounting list 2022

» Elona featured in the ‘Top 100 People’ list by Accounting Today

* been named HM Government G-Cloud Supplier 2022

* Been part of the CIPP Payroll Assurance Scheme 2022

Cuiture

We recognise that our employees are our most valuable asset. Our priority is to encourage and
recognise every success with an emphasis on teamwork, individual confribution, inclusion and
diversity. Our "Great Place to Work" certified status outlined above has been achieved through
validated employee feedback gathered with Great Place to Work's rigorous, data-driven methodology.
Great Place to Work® is the global authority on workplace culture, built on the belief that great
employee experiences are betier for people, for business and for the world. It applies data and
insights from approximately 10,000 organisations across the world to benchmark individual
performance and advise employers on how to continuously improve employee engagement. Our
certification confirms that our employees have a consistently positive experience at IRIS, with the
survey considering employee wellbeing, diversity and inclusion, trust in management and leadership,
effective communication, and recognition and reward.

The Great Place to Work for Women certification recognises our commitment to ensuring all
employees are able to reach their full potential, regardiess of gender. We are a strong advocate for
equality and have numerous initiatives focused on promating women across the business, designed
to remove obstacles encountered by women looking to transition into leadership positions. We
cefebrate the success of all women across our workforce, and actively promote and showcase our
female senior leaders as role models across the business. This inciudes our CEQO, Elona Mortimer-
Zhika who joined the business as Chief Financial Officer in 2018, and subsequently Chief Operating
Officer in 2018, before quickly becoming Chief Executive Officer in 2019. Efona was named in the
‘Top 50 Women in Accounting' list 2022 by Ignition and Stephanie Kelly, our Chief People Officer was
named 'Business Leader of the Year' in the Southern Tech 150 list 2022 by The Business Magazine.

Qur female workforce currently accounts for 43% of the business. This is above the UK's tech
average of 30%. With this figure, IRIS leads the way in championing workplace inclusivity. More
information on gender diversity can be found on pages 14 to 15,
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We continue to offer flexiblefhybrid working arrangements as well as remote training and events,
making these more accessible to our people.

We acknowledge the contribution our younger generations will make, and the impact they will have on
our future and therefore believe in the importance of nurturing talent as early as possible. Supporting
these individuals will allow them to be successful in whatever their chosen career may be. We support
a number of people through our apprenticeship schemes, in addition to our educational partnership
programmes, including working with students at the University of Salford in Manchester and
sponsoring employees to donate their time to Bookmark, a charity that helps children practice reading
when they need a little extra support and encouragement.

We also acknowledge our responsibility to jocal communities in which we work and with which we do
business. We actively encourage employees to recognise those responsibilities and behave in a

responsible manner towards the society in which we function. We regard the setting of good example
as an important practice in this area. Read more about our work in the community on pages 12 to 13.

Products

We have continued to invest heavily in development, as in previous years. Overall, over 500,000
development hours have been recorded. This includes further investment in our ground-breaking
cloud platform, IRIS Elements, Elements is an adaptive cloud-based platform that allows customers to
accass data in one place. Consisting of a number of essential modules including RIS Elements Tax,
IRIS Elements Accounts Production and IRIS Elements Practice Management, IRIS Elements allows
our customers to add products as and when they need, allowing them to grow at their own pace. In
addition, we continue to develop our NextGen Payroll and Education software, allowing our customers
to access first class cloud-based products.

Acquisitions

We have continued our trend of acquisitions during the financial year, acquiring four businesses
across the Americas, UK and Ireland. These acquisitions complement and enhance our product
offering in each of our core markets, including two in the US which are instrumental to our strategic
priority of expansion in the Americas. Businesses are selected where products complement our own
products, as well as having proven success in our core markets.

Americas acquisitions

In October 2022, having previously announced the signing of a binding agreement in May 2022, we
completed the acquisition of managed payroll business myPay Solutions {Creative Software Solutions
Corp). myPay Solutions provides comprehensive outsourced payroll and associated banking and tax
services via CPA firms to small and medium-sized businesses across all 50 states in the United
States.

myPay Solutions is a further strategic step in IRIS' mission to better serve the CPA market in the
Americas, adding a complementary service offering to IRIS' domestic and international payroll, and
HR consultancy.

Our Americas expansion continued in February 2023 with the acquisition of Apex HCM, a leading
cloud-based HCM software provider for payroll service bureaus (PSBs} and Certified Public
Accountant {CPA) firms.,

Founded in 2008, Apex’'s software is used by over 250 PSBs and CPA firms across the US to provide
payroli services o over 40,000 SMB and 400,000 employees. Its integrated HR modules also enable

PS3Bs and CPAs to serve their SME clients with recruitment, onboarding, benefits administration, and

time and attendance software from a cloud-native platform.
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UK and Ireland acguisitions

On the first working day of the financial year, we compfeted the acquisition of Paycheck Pius,
Ireland’s premier payroll provider. Paycheck Plus manages lrish and UK payrolls for domestic and
international organisations of all sizes. It provides an extensive range of payroll outsourcing services
and has a relentless focus on accuracy, timeliness and compliance. Ireland has become a hub for UK
and international businesses wanting to maintain access to the EU market following Brexit.

in October 2022, we completed the acquisition of Networx, a leading Applicant Tracking System
(ATS) and recruitment software and services provider in the UK.

Faunded in 2001, Networx provides simple, clever ATS and recruitment software and services to over
400 companies across many sectors in the UK inciuding education, finance, legal, retail, hospitality
and housing. Its integrated recruitment software enabies in-house recruitment teams and HR
professionals to successfully attracl, engage, manage, and onboard top tafent. This closely aligns with
our mission to take the pain out of processes and ensure professionals gain back the time they need
to add value {0 achieve their business goals.

Stability and growth

As at 30 April 2023, the Group had £37.5 million of cash resources excluding client funds (2022:
£123.2 million) alongside an undrawn Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) of £40 million, and has
significant headroom on both leverage and covenant levels as prescribed by our iending
arrangements (further detail on page 12). This, coupled with the increase in revenues, achieved
through both organic growth and acquisition, in addition 1o maintaining a strong capital/debt structure
mean the Group is very well positioned for growth in the existing markets we operate in and
anticipates further growth through acquisitions in the coming months.

Strategy

IRIS strives to generate revenue and profit growth, both organically and inorganically, and achieve
high cash conversion, whilst improving customer and employee experience, to deliver our overall
strategy. Our four key priorities will be delivered through engaging and empowering our #1RIS talent:

Key priority Bringing value 1o the business

To increase our revenue

Grow revenue through delivery
of excellent customer service 1o
support customer retention in
addition to focusing on cross-
selling, up-selling and driving
new product offerings, as well
as acquiring businesses whose
product portfolios compiement
our existing product offerings

Qur customers are at the centre of everything we do. We strive to
provide exemplary customer service and ensure we respond to
customer demands and provide the products they want and need,
making IRIS their pravider of choice. Through provision of exceflent
customer service and dynamic products, we are able to keep
aftrition rates low and improve our high recurring revenue rates,
which consistently exceed 90%.

Investment in our product offerings alfows us (¢ sell new products to
our existing customer base, attract new customers to IRIS, in
addition to maintaining customer retention rates.

Investing in businesses whose product portfolios complement (RIS’
existing products gives us access (o new customers and markets
and increases our ability to cross-seff.
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To increase revenue
generated from Cloud
roducts

Continued investment in our
cloud technology and ensuring
we are meeting the growing
demands of our customers for
integrated products

We understand how important cloud products are to our customers,
with the pandemic emphasising how cloud products can transform
the lives of users. Offering a comprehensive suite of integrated
products will allow us to provide what our customers need and want.

The acquisitions AccountantsWorld, Every, iISAMS, Staffology and
Senta in recent years have been pivotal in providing a guicker route
to market through their cloud based products which complement
IRIS products.

During the year, we have seen revenue from our cloud products
increase to 57% (FY22: 50%). Through continued investment, we
will continue to develop our cloud offerings.

1RIS Ed:gen is our next-generation cloud-based schoo! MIS designed
for slate schools and trusts. Smarter technelogy means smarter
data, which in turn lets schools and trusts make smarter decisions
that achieve better outcomes for pupils.

Our Elements platform — the first ever end-to-end cloud accounting
solution offers unmique flexibility, scale and powerful automation to
accountants. Following its launch, Elements has attracted significant
interest. More detail on Elements can be found on our website:
https:/iwww iris.co.uk/productsfiris-elements/

In addition, we have been investing heavily in our Next Gen HCM
platform which will revolutionise the traditional administrative
functions of HR departments.

To grow revenue generated
in the Americas

Continue to identify
opportunities to expand our
business in the Americas
through cross-sell, delivery of
our M8A value creation plans
and further acquisition

To date, we have been successful in the execution of our strategy to
increase our presence in the Americas. During the year we
successfully completed two further acquisitions in the Americas —
myPay and Apex, helping o drive 123% growth in the Americas in
year (FY22: 68%). Further detail can be found on page 62.

To support our Americas expansion, we have continued to
strengthen our local senior leadership team, headed by Jim

| Dunham, President, Americas. This team will continue to focus on

successful integration of our new businesses, ensuring we deliver
on our value creation plans.

In addition, we will continue to identify further acquisition
opportunities to complement our existing product offerings.

Cash conversion

Continue to drive high level of
cash conversion through
improvements to collection
processes and delivery of
procurement initiatives

As a highly acquisitive and growing business we are focussed on
streamlining our processes and systems, creating a standardised
way of working across the Group. This includes our business
transformation programme, bringing everything onto one platform,
which will simplify our interactions with customers and improve our
collection processes.

We have a dedicated in-house procurerment function which has
introduced the required expertise to deliver on procurement
initiatives.
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Events after the Reporting Date

The Group and Company have nc events to report after the balance sheet date.
Key Petformance indicators

In order to understand and assess the performance of the Group, a number of measures are
monitored and reported on a monthly basis by Management. The Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
of the Group, which are consistent with our covenant reporting requirements, are:

» Management Revenue;

+ Recurring Revenue;

+« Management EBITDA (Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation);
* Management Operating Cash Flow; and

s« Cash Conversion.

Management results for the Group are summarised as:

2023 2022 2021 2020
Management Revenue (£m) 27 257.9 2235 199.4
Recurring Revenue {%) 92 92 a0 80
Management EBITDA (Em) 1381 1137 102.6 92.2
Management Operating Cash Flow (£m) 1361 100.8 942 86.8
Cash Conversion (%) 99 89 92 a5

*  Nole: Management Revenue, Management EBITDA ang Management Operating Cash Flow are aon-GAAP alternative
perfarmance measures that are presented to provide readers with additional financial inforration that is regularly reviewed
by management. Such measures should not be viewed in isolation or as an alternative to the equivalent GAAP measure.
See note 33 to the financial statements for further details.

Management Revenue and Recurring Revenue

We achieved Management Revenue of £321.7 miltion - up by 24 7% from 2022, and maintained high
recurring revenue rates of 92% (2022: 92%). The increase in revenue was driven by sales of products
into new and existing customers and new acquisitions, price increases to support cantinued
investment in product functionality and legislation updates, underpinned by low customer churn.

Management Revenue is made up as follows:

2023 2022 2021 2020
Support & Subscription (£m) 230.9 194.3 171.8 153.6
Transactional (Em) 104 6.8 6.0 7.0
Managed services (£m) 58.8 368 28.0 176
Recurring revenue (Em) 3001 238.0 2058 178.2
Professional services (£m) 149 13.9 12.0 14.8
Licence & other (Em) 6.7 6.0 57 6.4
Total revenue (£m) 321.7 257.9 2235 199.4
Proforma revenue {(£m) 340.9 303.8 n/a n/a

Acquisitions during the year contributed £16.9 miffion to the overall revenue increase from the date of
acquisition. If the acquisitions had completed on the first day of the financial year, revenue wouid
have been £340.9 million (2022: £303.9 miltion).

10
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Management EBITDA

Management EBITDA, as defined in note 33, represents the basis on which management review the
performance of the Group, taking account of non-trading and management exceptional items.
Management EBITDA of £138.1 million was achieved during the year, representing a growth of 21%,
and a margin of 42.9% (2022: 44 .0%).

If the acquisitions had occurred at the start of the financial year, Management EBITDA for year ended
30 Aprit 2023 would have been £141.8 million {2022: £124.4 million).

Management Operating Cash Flow

Management Operating Cash Flow is defined as net cash flows generated from operating activities
adjusted to exclude the cash in respect of transaction related costs, management exceptional items
and include the cash impact of rental costs. Cash conversion is the percentage of Management
Operating Cash Flow generated from Management EBITDA.

In 2023 we achieved Management Operating Cash Flow of £136.1 million {2022: £100.8 million) and
cash flow conversion of 99% (2022: 83%). The increase in conversion percentage in the year ended
30 April 2023 is primarily driven by increased focus on cash collection.

Statutory measures

The statutory equivalents of the above measures are presented below:

2023 2022 2021 2020
Revenue (£m) 319.1 255.7 2225 195.0
Operating profit {excluding
depreciation and amortisation) (£m) 96.3 83.2 81.0 76.3
Operating Cash Flow (Em) 98.7 86.0 77.2 78.7
Cash Conversion (%) 104 97 85 103

Revenue has increased by £63.4 million (25%}) during the year. This is driven by sales of products
into new and existing customers and new acquisitions, price increases to support continued
investment in product functionality and legislation updates, underpinned by low customer churn.

Operating profit (excluding depreciation and amortisation) increased to £96.3 million (2022: £88.2
million) primarily driven by an increase in revenue, offset by increased costs.

During the year we achieved an Operating Cash Flow of £89.7 million (2022: £86.0 million) and cash
flow conversion of 104% (2022: 97%). Excluding movements in client held funds we achieved an
Operating Cash Flow of £124 .4 million (2022: £90.1 million) and cash fiow conversion of 129% {2022:
102%).

Financial Position

At 30 April 2023, the Group had cash balances excluding client funds of £37.5 million (2022: £123.2
million) and borrowings (including accrued interest and excluding preference shares) of £1,283 million
(2022: £1,236 million). See note 20.

11



IRIS Debtco Ltd Strategic Report (continued)
Annual Report & Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 April 2023

As at 30 April 2023, the Group’s horrowing facilities were as follows:

Facility Maturity Amount Drawn
Down
Senior:
Facility B £795 million September 2025 E795 million
Acquisition Facility £75 million September 2025 £75 million
Revolving Facility £40 million March 2025 £nil
one year after Facility B but
PIK Notes Facility £260 million before September 2030 £260 million

The current financial arrangements include a leverage covenant which requires the leverage (the ratio
of Consolidated Senior Secured Net Leverage to Consolidated Pro Forma EBITDA) does not exceed
9.60x. At year end the leverage was substantially below this level at 5.25x. The acquisitions during
the year were funded through available cash resources which has driven the decrease from 6.03x as
at 30 April 2022.

The PIK Notes Facility shown above is the original principal amount and does not include total
accrued interest of £160.8 million which rolls 6-monthly and is compounded into the balance
outstanding. The total balance at 30 April 2023 stood at £420.8 million (2022: £378.2 million).

Environmental, Social and Govermmance (ESG)

We take our ESG responsibilities seriously and for us, commercial success goes hand in hand with
good corporale social responsibility. We're acutely aware of the impact we {our business, our people,
our suppliers) have on the environment and the communities we operate in and that is why we've
integrated our social responsibilities into our day-to-day work and the way we conduct our business
relationships.

We strive for sustainable improvermnent and will continuously review how our processes, sefvices and
actions impact on the environment. We have continued to increase staff awareness of environmental
good practice and are extremely proud to have improved our ranking in the Hg annual ESG
(Environmental, Social and Governance) survey, maving up to first place, which highlights the great
work we are doing in this area.
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Our 'Green Group' — our internal champions for sustainability at IRIS — meet monthiy to discuss
environmental issues. The aim of the Green Group is to identify, share, educate and promote
environmental awareness within IRIS, encouraging the adoption of green initiatives and targets to
help influence both the business, our employees, our outputs and our culture in lessening our
environmental impact.
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Through education, innovation and adherence to our green commitments, we know we can make the
necessary changes to protect the planet and reduce our consumption of finite resources. We continue
our focus to ‘get green’ by:

responsibly choosing our suppliers (requesting a CSR policy before we engage with them)*

thinking about our energy and water usage and reducing the amount used

adding recycling and waste management points to each site

reducing our use of stationery and other single-use plastic goods

purchasing office equipment based on its sustainability not price

= making our offices energy efficient

= promoting our electric car leasing scheme

¢ adopting hybrid and remote working, which has significantly reduced the need for commuting
and travelling between offices

* working on green business certifications

* recycling cld equipment including donating laptops we are no longer able to use

“ two of our major suppliers have committed to being net zero by 2025

We undertake reviews of our greenhouse gas emissions and have recently been benchmarked
against other Hg portfolio companies. Our performance is favourable — with our intensity ratio (tonnes
of COze per employee) being well below average for both Scope 1 & 2 and Scope 3 emissions. More
on aur emissions can be found in the Directors’ Report on pages 27 to 28.

We give our employees three 'Giving Back’ days a year on top of their annual holiday entitement to
support Jocal community and national charitable causes. We unite the contributions made between
the business and our employees to make our actions stronger.

Employees are encouraged to actively give their time and skills to support community projects and
charities. Qur employees make use of their three ‘giving back’ days to volunteer in a number of ways,
including fundraising for a charity of their choice, being a school governor, charity trustee, reading
with school children through the Bookmark scheme, menteoring in schools and running money
management courses, both externally in conjunction with charities, schools and other community
groups, as well as internally with IRIS employees, that teach participants simple budgeting skills. We
actively highlight acts of kindness displayed by our employees through our communication channels,
both internally and externally. This has included fundraising, collecting for local food banks and baking
and delivering cakes to the elderly. During the last financial year, 365 days (2022: 230 days) have
been given to charities and community projects, including schoois, NHS, foodbanks, biood donations,
hospices and acting as a trustee, A total of £25,750 (2022: £28,080) has been donated to charitable
causes,

IRIS Anti-Sfavery Policy: We continue to take action to understand all potential modern slavery risks
related to our business and to put in place steps that are aimed at ensuring that there is no slavery or
human trafficking in our own business and supply chains. Third party organisations within the
supplier/contractor pool and other companies that may be engaged with are expected to ensure their
goods, materials and labour-related supply chains fully comply with the Modern Slavery Act 2015; and
are transparent, accountable and auditable, and free from ethical ambiguities. The business has an
‘Awareness Raising Programme’, training staff on modern slavery issues. Our anti-slavery policy
included as part of the induction process and available on our intranet.

Legal, risk and procurement teams review risk exposure. Suppliers are assessed prior to on-boarding
and then re-reviewed annually. The Modern Slavery Act 2015 is inciuded within our statutory and
regulatory compliance risk register to ensure the risk continues to be flagged, assessed and
appropriately addressed.

We seek to impose adequate and robust contractual provisions relating to modern slavery or human
trafficking compliance with applicable suppliers we work with. The business uses only specified,
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reputable employment agencies to source labour and verifies the practices of any new agency it is
using before accepting workers from that agency.

Whistleblowing Policy: We encourage all our workers, customers and other business partners to
report any concerns related to the direct activities, or our supply chains. Our whistlebiowing procedure
is designed to make it easy for workers to make disclosures, without fear of retaliation.

Employee code of conduct: Our code makes clear to employees the actions and behaviour expected
of them when representing the business. §

Gender Diversity

Gender equality, equal opportunity, and the power of diversity have always been at the heart of IRIS.

At all levels of the organisation, we are passionate about celebrating differences, proud to encourage

emgloyees to bring their whole selves to work and committed to growing our diverse workforce, With |
our determination and promise to continue investing in an extensive range of programmes that ‘
promote gender equality and support the women of IRIS, we can continue to make IRIS an even

better place to work. Our championing of women in leadership has been recognised through our

recognition as a Great Place to Work for Women. Since its launch in 2020, we've welcomed 264

women into our Women in Leadership programme. We've also welcomed 12 women into the RIS

family as part of our Returnship programme and improved our equality scores that are measured as

part of our regular employee surveys.

We support our gender equality strategy through our THRIVE programme:

Launched in 2021, THRIVE started as a women's development
programme with the mission to ensure that women at IRIS and girls
in local communities received ample support and had the

THRIVE qands fov

@ I confidence to pursue their goals and succeed. To achieve these
We are steadfast, il
devermined, perstizent goals, the programme focused on three pillars for success:
UM  Hardworking
| we work nard and are » reducing our gender pay gap:
always Improving
+ enhancing women's wellbeing; and
Resilenc
@ W are Sexibile, we = uplifting young women,
owercome achvensity
el We're delighted to have achieved many milestones throughout the
Igant R . 4
@ S year, such as partnering with Greater Manchester Combined
Innovative, creative Authority to offer young pecple a ‘workplace safari’ day in our
Manchester office to experience life at IRI3. As of 1 January 2023,
Yoca) we have increased the percentage of female UK managers to 44%
m'“"‘“"‘ Far the coming year, our particular focus for THRIVE is to ensure
we are increasing female representation at all levels, and in
0 0 GNP currently underrepresented areas in IRIS, such as Engineering,
g {[I-]\\ﬂ We are empowered and Sales, IT, and Leadership.
HRINY  we empower ochers

IRIS Group is led by nine board members, of which one is female. Its Executive Team (including
Executive Board members} comprises of four female leaders and ten male leaders. Our latest Gender
Pay report was published in January 2023 and covers the tax year ended 5 April 2022. The measures
for the report are calculated using core IRIS Group employees {which excludes non-UK staff and
employees still employed by newly acquired entities). For 2021/22, the business comprised of 1,713
(2020/21: 1,381) employees with women representing 43% of rales - this exceeds the technology
sector average of 30% women. We are proud o have increased the number of women in our UK
workforce by over 25% since our last report. The percentage of women in top quartile jobs has
increased by 4% since 2020/21, with women now making up 30% of upper quartile jobs. Increasing
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the number of women in the Group and moving towards an equal distribution of men and women
across all levels continues to be an area of focus for us.

Gender Pay Gap

Figures reveal that for 2021/22, our mean pay gap went up slightly from 22% to 25%, while the
median pay gap increased from 25% to 27%. The median bonus gap reduced to 23% (2020/21:
68%), while the mean was 42% (2020/21: 38%). The increase is attributed to new business
acquisitions who on the whole have more women in lower quartile roles, however, we are proud to
announce that 96% (2020/21: 62%) of women received a bonus, compared to 98% {2020/21: 55%) of
men.

Gender Pay and Bonus Gap %
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We pride ourselves on being a diverse organisation and appreciate that each of our employees will
have different needs and priorities. We work hard to help each person find their strengths. A core part
of our approach is to offer women a positive, supportive, and flexible working environment that
empowers them to succeed. Whilst we are proud of our progress so far, we acknowledge there is still
opportunity to do more, and our goal is to create an even better gender balance across the business.

To support progress, during 2023, we will focus on four key pillars of success which are designed to
encourage and empower employees across the IRIS family to get involved and help us collectively
achieve aur diversity goals.
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fiq T
1 Promoting
Welilbeing &
SUEGESS] Work-Life

Balance

Enhancing Increasing
Company Representation

Practices & | At All Levels
Policies A

Pillar

Celebrating Success Promoting and showcasing female senior

leaders as role modeis across the business

We work to ensure there is a positive = Shining a light on inspirational female
atmosphere, that employees feei energised and managers in the business through a special
believe in the direction of the business. feature on our Intranet page

Celebrating others is paramount to the success | Running learning and development events
of our Women in Leadership Programrme that for women focusing on perceived or real
runs alongside our High Potential Programme. barriers to success and launching/promoting

female-focused courses
Promoting our Women into Leadership
Programme to foster and cultivate talent
among our female colleagues

s Achieving 9 out of 10 for ‘Equality’ in our
regular employee surveys (Peakon)

Enhancing Company Practices and * Reviewing our poticies to ensure inclusivity

Procedures for trans women and non-binary employees.
s Continuing to support working parents with

We recognise that it can be difficult to find flexibte working patterns including a UK-

meaningful, fairly paid work after taking long wide hybrid working policy.

term career breaks to raise a family, with + Encouraging an open culture where it is

women being disproportionally affected. To acceptable to fairly challenge practices and

combat this, we launched our Returnship Policy pay.

in June 2021. « Supporting business-wide networking

through reguiar leadership events and our
annual IRIS conference.

» Continuing our ‘Mentoring for Parents’
scheme to connect retuming parents with a
colteague who's been through the same
experiences and share advice.

+ Working with hiring managers to build
balanced shortlists of candidates.
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Strategic Report {continued)

Promoting Work Life Balance

We recognise our people work hard, and in
return we want to support their emotional and
physical wellbeing. We believe it is our
responsibifity to create an environment and
culture for our employees that is happy and
healthy. IRIS also recognises tha! there is no
one-size-fits-all formuia to achieving a perfect
work-life balance.

Promoting flexible working aptions across
the organisation and encouraging a healthy
work life balance

Supporting employees with a range of
flexible benefits options including private
healthcare with discounted family coverage,
free life insurance and group income
protection for all employees

QOffering an Employee Assistance
Programme which gives all employees
access to free 24/7 advice on a wide range
of topics and issues

Offering three Giving Back Days per year for
all employees to have the opportunity to
volunteer in their local communities and
generous holiday entittement

Continuing to train Mental Health First
Aiders to provide wellbeing support and
running weekly Workplace Support groups
on a range of topics.

Increasing representation at all levels

We will strive to increase the percentage of
women in the workforce to 48% by the end of
April 2024, To achieve this goal and ensure we
are increasing the representation of women at
all levels, and in areas that are dispropo tivnally
inhabited by men, we have been promoting our
THRIVE programme.

Using gender-neutral language in job
adverts and encourage returnships.
Reviewing our career path maps to help
empioyees unlock their full potentiat across
the organisatian.

Implementing unconscious bias training for
recruiters and hiring managers.

Working to ensure there is 1 female
successor for all key roles

Focussing on increasing the percentage of
female Heads of Function from 28% to 50%
and increase the number of female
Executives, to achieve more equal
representation for women in leadership.
Adapting our promotion policy to encourage
women applicants who may otherwise not
feel confident enough to apply.

17




RIS Debtco Ltd
Annual Report & Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 April 2023

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Strategic Report (continued)

As for other businesses, there are a number of risks and uncertainties that may affect our business
activities. The Directors continue to identify and evaluate operational and other risks faced by the
Group, implementing changes where necessary to reduce risk to manageable levels. The quality of
earnings is underpinned by strong legal and financial govermnance, coupled with a focus on improving
customer service and increasing ihe lifetime value of customers.

Key Risk impact]_
0 |~

Medium

C I |

FYZI3va FY22

l Risk gecreasing

No movement

Risk increasing

Disruption of IT Systems and Networks,
including Cyber Risk

The Group's business operations rely on the
efficient and uninterrupted cperation of its

Loss of access, loss of customer data, and
GDPR fines present a risk if not properly
managed.

O

information technology systems and networks.

Mitigation

IRIS continues 10 invest in cyber securty measures,
including improvements to identity protection,
security monitoring and ransomware defence.

We have increased the scope of our cyber
essentials certification to the whole business and
have implemented a new security policy framework
to support our global regulatory requirements.

Extensive investments have been made in
preventative security capabilities within our software
development processes. These include developer
fraining, improvements in architectural governance
and standardisation, as well as technical
canabilities to ensure all strategic products use
tools to detect threats from our software suppily
chain and threats from defects in code.

Wider Economic Environment

The Directors acknowledge that the econamic
envircnment can affect the overall
performance of the Group's businesses in
terms of both revenues and cost, including for
instance through inflationary pressures, rising
interest rates and global events such as
international conflicts (e.g. Russia and
Ukraine).

ol

We keep up to date with external factors which may
affect our business direttly and indirectly through
our supplier and customer base. We seek to limit
any risks presented by external factors through
close relationships with our suppliers, customers,
external advisors and bankers, as well as
appropriate use of hedging strategies, where
relevant. We do not have any direct financial
exposure in Russia or Ukraine.
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Risk

Evelving Technology Market

The software market in which the Group
operates is characlerised by evolving
technology, market practices and industry
standards. There is a risk that IRIS may be left
behind if it does not continue to invest in its
products and solutions, and therefore becomes
uncompetitive.

o=

Strategic Report (continued)

Mitigation

We have a strong commitment to Research and
Development, which allows for identification of, and
adaptation to technological, compliance and market
changes, thereby ensuring demands of customers
are met and products are delivered on the latest
technology platforms.

We have continued to invest heavily in our
ambitious IRIS Elements multivear programme add
more products to our to our cloud platform, which
will deliver product functionality across our core
product suite going forward. In addition, we
continue to develop our NextGen payroll and
NextGen education cloud products, demonstrating
our commitment in this area.

Project Quantum, our business transformation
prograrmme, which brings our customer facing and
back office systems together, continued during the
year and have now begun to migrate our
Accountancy customers onto the new platform.

Regulatory Change
Customers come to IRIS as they want to

ensure that their compliance is taken care of,
and is right first time. if (RIS was unable to
ensure that products remained up to date for
regulatory change, customers would be less
confident in the products and may choose to
go eisewhere.

O -

As a provider of regulatory software, it is imperative
products are kept up to date, and product updates
and releases are right first time.

We have a privileged relationship with HMRC,
working closely with them to ensure that our
products meet all requirements.

We ensure we are able to react promptly to
changes in government legisiation, so that business
critical software products are kept fully up to date
and can continue to support our customers and
their businesses.

Competitive Market Environment

The Group operales in a competitive
environment where the quality of products is
paramount. All technology companies are
vulnerable to disruptive market entrants.

O

For us, product quality is paramount. As the largest
third-party filer with the government, we have a
market leading position and reputation for quality.
We also have the largest and the most integrated
suite of accountancy products in the market. The
combination of our market standing and value our
solutions deliver, results in customers renewing
their subscriplion from year to year.

We employ quality assurance teams and involve
customers in reviewing new product releases to
reduce risk and to improve both the quality and the
timeliness of releases.

We also attach enormous importance to providing
the highest levels of customer service 1o
differentiate ourselves in the market.
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Mitigation

Breach of Copyright To mitigate this risk, we endeavour to maonitor and
police the unauthorised use of our products, use
The Group relies on inteflectual property laws | secure storage of our source code and engage the
including laws on copyright, trade secrets and | services of specialists to enforce and protect the

trademarks to protect its products. Despile Group's intellectual property rights both in the UK
such laws and regulations being in place, and the Americas,

unauthorised copying of software may still

ocCur.

Retention and recruitment of ke We strive to limit reliance on third party expertise by
employees employing directly and promoting from within. We

place significant focus on our employees, ensuring
Legislative software is complex and requires we attract the highest calibre individuais and
in-depth knowledge of both the legislation and | maintain high employee satisfaction through
software development, to build and deploy the | continued development, linking to the strategy of

solutions. Recruitment of skilied software #1RIS. This includes identification of Top Talent

engineers and tention of key employees, across the business and personalised development

including our leaders, is therefore important to | plans aligned to our career framework, We also

ensure the business is able to continue to include cross tralning across multiple products o

deliver great software 1o customers. remove any single points of failure. We are proud to
be growing our workforce globally, including our

‘ hubs in India and Romania. For our senjor leaders,

we have been focussing on ensuring we have

appropriate succession plans in place.

Acquisition Integration Acquisition integration is planned and monitored
closely to ensure the investment objectives for each
acquired business are met and vaiue creation plans
are delivered.

There is a risk that businesses acquired by
IRIS do not integrate effectively within the
business, and investment objectives are not
met.

0!

Future Outlook

Looking ahead, the Directors believe that there continue to be substantia) opportunities for further
growth, both organically and from acquisitions. There will be continued focus on investment in Cloud
technology, growth within the Americas and further acquisitions to strengthen core product portfolios,
as well as taking advantage of significant cross-sell opportunity and operational synergies within our
core markets.

We will continue to work with customers to understand their needs, keep abreast of changing
legislation and evclve our product offering to respond to these factors. Our investment in Cloud
technologies and product integration will ensure we are able to keep pace with the growing demand
for these products.

The Directors are confident in the Group’s prospects going forward.

The Directors would like to express their personal thanks to everyone who has played their part in
RIS’ achievements for another fantastic year. A big thank you 1o ail our IRIS employees for their
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excellent service to our customers and contribution to our results, and also our custorners for
continuing to choose IRIS.

Cn behalf of the Board

G

Elona Mortimer-Zhika
Chief Executive Officer
11 August 2023
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of IRIS Debtco
Ltd (“the Company™), and the consolidated group of companies (together “the Group”) for the year
ended 30 April 2023.

Principal Activities

With over 43 years’ experien'ce and a predominantly UK, but growing international focus, the
Company offers the greatest range of specialist financial, human resources, engagement, payroll and
bookkeeping solutions. These are managed under the leading brands outlined on page 3.

The Group predominantly operates in the UK, put also has a growing presence in the Americas, with
operations in the US and Canada achieved through acquisitions as well as ather territories across
Europe.

The future outlook of the Group is cutlined in the Strategic Report on page 20.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group's activities expose it to a number of financial risks including credit risk, interest rate risk,
cash flow and liguidity risk.

Cash Flow and Liquidity Risk

The Group manages its day-to-day cash flow requirements through its highly cash generative
business model, in addition to free cash reserves excluding client funds of £37.5 miltion as at the year
end (2022: £123.2 miflion) and the use of an available revolving credit facifity of up to £40 million
(2022: £40 million). At year end the balance drawn on this facility was £nil (2022: £nil).

The Group’s debt facilities specify a combination of financial and non-financial covenants and these
are monitored at Board {evel on a monthly basis.

Throughout the year ended 30 Aprii 2023, the Facifity B and Acquisition Facility loans, of £795 million

and £75 million respectively, remained fully drawn down. The total Facility B at the year end was £795

million {2022: £7985 million} and was fully drawn (2022: fully drawn). The Revolving Credit Facility of

£40 million was available throughout the year. The facility was utilised on a temporary basis to

support acquisition activity in the latter half of the year. It was fully repaid in April 2023 and remained

undrawn at the year end. At 30 April 2023, the facilities have a bullet repayment and remaining term

of 2.5 years. The Revolving Credit facility will assist the Group to achieve its growth ambitions both '
organically and by further acqlisitions.

As at 30 April 2023 the Group has borrowings gross of unamortised fees and including accrued
interest of £2,389 million (2022: £2,228 million).

Interest Rate Risk

The Group holds its borrowings through long-term variable rate facilities. in October 2022, the Group
entered into new 2-year interest hedge contracts 1o protect against market volatility with rapicly
increasing interest rates. The contracts consist of a series of fixed SONIA interest swaps for a total
notional amount of £435 million,

Credit Risk
The Group's principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the
halance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivahles. An aliowance for impairment is made
where there is an identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a
reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows, The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables and contract assets, The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales
and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced.
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The current and forward-looking infarmation on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables are also considered. IRIS has assessed that there is no material
adjustment to provisions required to reflect the lifetime expected loss.

The credil risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit rating agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number
of counterparties and customers. For continuing operations in the year ended 30 April 2023, no
income derived from a single customer exceeded 1% of the Group's revenue.

Going Concern

The Group has very strong liquidity with £37.5 million of cash excluding client funds as at the
reporting date {2022: £123.2 million). It has no debt repayable until late in 2025 and continues to have
significant headroom in its only covenant test. This coupled with highly recurring and cash generative
nature of the business madel, mean the Group is very stable from a profit and cash perspective.
Board approved forecasts are used as the basis for the going concern assessment, to which plausible
downside scenarios are then applied. Management have considered every plausible scenario and do
not foresee any of them causing this covenant test to fail.

The Directors believe that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they believe there is no material uncertainty in respect of
going concern and contirue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements for
the coming 12 months from the date of this report. Further information is included in Note 2.

Dividends

During the year, the Company did not pay a dividend (2022: £nil). Preference shares held by the
Group are treated as debt. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year.

Donations
Charitable donaticns made by IRIS during the year are disclosed on page 13.

The Group made no political donaticns during the year (2022: £nil).

Directors

The Directors who served throughout the year, and up to the date of signing, unless stated, were as
follows:

K Dady

E Mortimer-Zhika

M Cox

D Lockie

D Packford

N Humphries

S Roddis (resigned 23 December 2022)
K Loosemore

D Simon

J Jefferies
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Director roles on the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors
Kevin Dady

Executive Chairman

Appointed 6 September
2018

industry experience: 25+
years

Kevin Dady is the Executive Chairman of IRIS Software Group and
is responsible for IRIS’ acquisition and corporate development
strategy, while also continuing his executive sponsorship of the
company's exciting next generation of products and services, which
are due to be launched this year and beyond.

Kevin has over 25 years of leadership experience, having hetd
many executive roles across the UK. Most notably, his experience
includes membership of Capita's divisional executive board,
spending 18 years with the business, including overseeing its
Professional Services Division. Kevin is also a non-Executive
director of Literacy Capital.

Elona Mortimer-Zhika
Chief Executive Officer

Appointed 6 September
2018

Industry experience. 20+
years

Elona is the Chief Executive Officer of IRIS Software Group and all
of its subsidiaries. Elona is dedicated to ensuring IRIS is the most
trusted provider of mission-critical software and services. She is
very passionate about building winning teams that put customers at
the heart of everything IRIS does, praviding them with an
exceptional experience and value-add solutions. |RIS was crowned
the winner of the 2022 UK Tech Business of the Year Award.

Elona joined IRIS in 2016 as Chief Financial Officer and was
promoted to Chief Operating Officer in 2018, and then Chief
Executive Officer in 2019, Before joining IRIS, Elona held several
senior leadership roles in Big 4 and PE-backed businesses,
including Mavenir, Acision, Arthur Andersen and Deloitte.

Elona graduated with a First Class Honours Degree in Accounting
and Economics and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England & Wales. Awards include Top 100 Most
Influential People in Accounting in the US 2022, Top 50 Women in
Accounting 2021; UK Tech Awards Business Woman of the Year
2020; Global Banking and Finance Business Woman of the Year
UK 2020 and the Venus Nationa! Finance Professional of the Year
2018.

Elona is-passionate about diversity and is a mentor in the F-Ten
ICAEW programme supporting women in leadership positions.

Michael Cox
Chief Financial Officer
Appointed 1 February 2019

Industry experience: 15+
years

Michael is Chief Finance Officer at IRIS and is responsible for all
global finance and legal operations.

Prior to joining IRIS in 2016, Michael held senior leadership roles
across both Operational and Commercial Finance at Xura, a PE-
backed leading digital communications services provider, During
this time, he led international teams and helped take the business
through two transformative sale processes under both PE- and US-
listed environments.

Michaet is a Chartered Accountant, having begun his career at
PwC focused on technology and software clients before moving
into industry.
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Non-Executive Directors

David Lockie

Chief Operating Officer

Appointed 16 November
2020

Industry experience: 23+
years

David is responsible for a wide range of functions, including
Revenue, Customer Success, Systems and Data and M&A
Integration. He joined IRIS in 2018 as Chief Customer Officer,
bringing a weaith of experience and knowledge across various
sectors and industries, including taking responsibility for software
businesses across central and local government, education,
financial services and payments.

As a seasoned executive, David has a proven track-record for
championing customers, providing an exceptional experience and
driving innovation and improvement at every step of their journey.

Prior to IRIS, David enjoyed a varied tenure with Capita, most
recently leading the Capita Software Services Division.

David Packford

Appointed 6 September
2019

David has been a Non-Executive Director at IRIS since October
2012 and is the Chair of our Audit Committee. David provides
consulting services to private equity groups in the UK & Eurcpe
and is also a Non-Executive Director of Verve Partners. David has
a BA in Economics from the University of Liverpool and an MSc in
Mathematical Economics from the London School of Economics
and Political Science. He is also a member of the I[CAEW.

Kevin Loosemore

Appointed 18 May 2018

Kevin is now a Non-Executive Director, having previously served
as Chairman of IRIS from August 2017 to August 2019. Prior to
this, Kevin was Executive Chairman of Micro Focus from April 2011
until Feb 2020. Kevin served as Non-Executive Chairman of
DelLaRue Plc from Sept 2019 until April 2023, He previously held
roles as non-executive Chairman of Morse plc, a Non-Executive
Director of Nationwide Building Society and a Non-Executive
Cirector of the Big Food Group plc. His most recent executive roles
were as Chief Operating Officer of Cable & Wireless plc, President
of Motorola Europe, Middle East and Africa and before that, he was
Chief Executive of IBM UK Limited. He has a degree in politics and
economics from Oxford University.

Nic Humphries

Appointed 18 May 2018

Nic Humphries is a Non-Executive Director of IRIS and led the
original buyout of the business by Hg in 2004. Nic is the Senior
Partner and Executive Chairman of Hg and Head of the Saturn
fund. He has ultimate responsibility for Hg's strategy, management
and governance. Nic started his investing career in 1990, He joined
Hg in 2001 as founder of the firm's Technology Team. From 1990-
2001 he was a director at Barclays Private Equity (now Equistone),
Geocapital and 3i ptc. He holds a first class degree in Electronic
Engineering and was a IEEE and National Engineering Council
scholar.

Dan Simon

Appointed 1 October 2021

Dan joined ICG in 2018 and is part of ICG’s UK investment team.
Prior to joining ICG, he worked in turnaround investing and at PwC
within their financial and operational restructuring team. Dan is a
Chartered Accountant and holds a BA in History & Economics from
the University of Oxford.

Joe Jefferies

Appainted 1 October 2021

Joe works for Hg focusing on farge-cap investments in the software
and services space. Joe joined Hg in 2020 after more than seven
years in private equity at Montagu and Three Hilis Capital Partners,
and before this started his career at J.P. Morgan in investment
banking. Joe holds a BA in Economics & Management from the
University of Oxford.
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Directors’ Indemnities

The Company has made gualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of certain of its
Directors and these remain in force at the date of this report.

Section 172 Statement

The Directors of the Company, as those of all UK companies, must act in accordance with the duties
detailed in section 172 of the UK Companies Act 2006 which is summarised as follows:

‘A director of a company must act in the way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to
promote the success of the company for the benefit of its shareholders as a whole and, in doing so
have regard (amongst other matters) to:

e the likely consequences of any decisions in the long-term;

* the interests of the Company's employees;

s the need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and
others;

« the impact of the Company's operalions on the community and environment;

e the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business
conduct; and

» the need to act fairly as between shareholders of the Company.

The following paragraphs summarise how the Directors fulfil their duties:

Risk Management

IRIS provides mission-critical software and services to its customers, As it grows, the business and
risk environment also become more complex. It is therefore vital that IRIS effechvely identifies,
evaluates, manages and mitigates the risks, and that it continues to evolve the strategic approach to
risk management.

For details of IRIS’ principal risks and uncertainties, and how it manages its risk environment, please
see page 18.

Employees

Qur employees are our most valuable asset. For the business to succeed we need (o ensure we are
supporting and managing our employees’ careers, offering opportunities for iearning and development
and ensuring success is recognised. Common values inform and guide internai behaviour so we can
achieve our goals in the right way. We encourage recognition of every success with an emphasis on
teamwork, individual contribution, inclusion and diversity. Our values are included on page 4.

We have a committed and skilled workforce and the our reward strategy aims to reinfarce the link
between employee performance and business performance. In addition to a competitive basic salary,
total reward may include variable pay elements such as bonuses, commission, recognition awards
and employee share schemes. We have listened to feedback on the benefits we offer and continue to
enhance flexible benefit schemes which gives our employees the opportunity to choose appropriate
benefits to suit their lifestyies while ensuring a core benefit package that supports our duty of care to
employees.

Employee Consultation

We place considerable value on the involvement of our employees and we conlinue to keep them
informed on matters affecting them as empioyees, as well as on the various factors affecting the
performance of the wider business. This is achieved through formal and informal meetings including
monthly all company update meetings, the Group's intranet and the CEO's weekly blog. We continue
to gain employee feedback through our monthly Peakon surveys, allowing us to understand how
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employees are feeling. Since we launched these monthly surveys in December 2020, we've had an
aggregated participation rate of 88%.

Learning and Development

The education and deveiopment of cur employees remain a priority. With the intent of attracting,
recruiting, developing and retaining key employees, we maintain a number of policies and
procedures, such as an Equal Opportunities Policy.

Employee development is encouraged through appropriate training and a dedicated Learning and
Development function as well as through informal Lunch and Learn sessions run in various
departments. Regular and open communication between management and employees is viewed as
essential for motivating a highly educated workforce. Briefings are held regularly to provide business
updates and give opportunities for questions and feedback. We maintain a wehsite, which is freely
accessible, as well as an intranet site which is accessible to all employees.

A focus on learning and development has resulted in over 759 employees attending 180 different
courses during the year. Many courses are delivered virtually, which makes them accessible to all
employees, however, there are some programmes which are specifically run as face-to-face sessions,
such as our Leading and Managing with IMPACT courses. As well as our standard offering of
courses, we regularly faunch new courses for our employees to participate in.

Disabled Employees

Applications far employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the
aptitudes of the applicant concerned. In the event of empioyees becoming disabled, every effort is
made to ensure their employment with the Group continues and appropriate training is arranged. It is
the policy of the Group that the training, career development and promotion of disabled employees
should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

Corporate Social Responsibility, Community and Environment

We are strongly aware of our social responsibility and the impact we have on the environment and the
communities we serve. We use our position of strength to create positive change for the people and
communities with which we interact and we actively encourage employees to support communities
and charities they are close to.

For further details on how we interact with communities and the environment, please see page 13.
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

Greenhouse Gas Emissions (GHG) and Energy Consumption

For this reporting period we have again seen an increase in emissions during the year as restrictions

put in place by the Government have been all removed. We continue to welcome back more staff into
our offices, which has increased car use as well as energy use at our offices. We have also increased
the number of offices by 1aking on new [eases as a result of further acquisitions, some of these are in
clder and less energy efficient buildings.

Our Green Group will continue to monitor our performance and identify ways to keep our emissions
as low as possible. We have recently contracted with a Company, Normative, to start to record
monthly GHG emissions, so we can monitor, track and put plans in place to reduce our carbon
footprint.

Our emissions for the year are summarised on the next page.
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Year ended 30 Aprif 2023 l Year ended 30 April 2022
Type of emission | Activity KWh f {COse % of total ; ' Kih €0 | % oftotal
Scope 1 Natural Gas 37,471 7 I 1.9% 8,341 2 0.8%
Scope 2 Electricity 845403 163 43.7% 591,479 126 49.8%
Scope 3 Grey Fleet 822,255 203 54.4% 536,646 125 49.4%

Total gross emissions 1,705,129 l l 1,136,466

Intensity metric:

Number of employees (average for the 3.100 2573
year per note 5) ' ,

Tornes of COze per employee 0.12 0.10

Quantification and Reporting Methodology

We have followed the 2019 UK Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines. We have used the
2021 UK Government's Conversion Factors for Company Reporting. The energy efficiency narrative
methodology has been created based on energy management best practice.

Organisational Boundary

We have used the control approach, whereby the company accounts for 100 percent of the GHG
emission (and energy} over which it has control. The report 1s at group level and includes information
of subsidiaries. However, the option has been taken to exclude energy and carbon reporting for any
subsidiary which itself would not be obligated if reporting on its own, as per the reporting guidelines.

Heaith and Safety

We have well-developed health and safety policies and procedures, safeguarding employees,
contractors and visitors in compliance with applicable registration and practice. Mental health
continues to be a key focus for us and our main priority is the welibeing and safety of our cofleagues.
We are proud to have supported the training of 41 mental health first aiders.

Customers

Ensuring customers are provided the best guality products and services is fundamental to our
strategy. We are constantiy looking to develop products to ensure they are in line with the latest
reguiation and meet customers evolving needs. Customer service is key to success, and a key metric
measured in our annual performance. For further details on how we work with customers, please see
page 4.

Suppliers

We have established a procurement framework and have poiicies in place for supplier onboarding
and management. This includes completion of due diligence activities prior to engaging with suppliers,
as well as monitoring compliance with regulatory requirements, such as medern slavery and
Corporate Criminal Offence, on a periodic basis.

Investors

The Board is commitied to openly engaging with investors. For more information on our investors,
please see page 2.
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Corporate Governance

The Board of the Company discharges its responsibilities by providing effective leadership to the
Group within a framework of prudent and manageable controls, which enables risk to be assessed at
an early stage and proactively managed. The Board sets the Group's strategic aims, ensures that the
necessary financial and human resocurces are in place for the Group to meet its business
commitments and regularly monitors management's performance.

The IRIS Debtco Ltd Board has adopted a schedule of matters, which are specifically reserved for its
decision. Such matters include, but are not fimited to:

» final approval of the annual budget and strategic plan;
* major acquisitions and disposals;

+ material contracts; and

+ any changes to the Group's financing arrangements.

It has also adopted a framework of delegated commercial and operational authorities which define the
scope of the executive officers’ powers and those of subsidiary management,

The RIS Debtco Lid Board of Directors’ intention is to convene at least six times a year at formal
Board meetings, however, has mef more often in recent years and a total of eleven times during the
current financial year.

Our overriding objective /s to maximise long-term shareholder value whilst exceeding the needs of
customers and employees. The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's approach to
assessing risk and the systems of internal control and for monitoring their effectiveness in providing
its ultimate stakeholders with a return that is consistent with a responsible assessment and mitigation
of risks. This includes reviewing financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
procedures. The 1ule of Executive Management is to implement the Board's policies on risk and
control and present assurance on compliance with these policies. All employees are accountable for
operating within these policies.

The Group has an Audit Committee, which consists of members of the Group Board, including a Non-
Executive Chairman, David Packford (see biograpby on page 25). The Audit Committee meets
regularly with the Auditors to review audit planning, audit and non-audit fees and the results of the
Group audit and financial statements prior to finalisation. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
the appointment of the Auditors.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law the directors have prepared the group and the company financial statements in accordance with
UK-adopted international accounting standards,

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the profit or loss
of the group for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

» state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;

« make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

= prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the group and company will continue in business.
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The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsibie for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the group’s and company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the group and company and enable them ta ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation
in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financia! statements may differ
from legisiation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations

The directors consider that the Annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the group's and
company’s position and performance, business medel and strategy.

In the case of each direclor in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:

+ sofar as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group'’s
and company's auditors are unaware,; and

» they have taken all the steps that they ocught to have taken as a director in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the group’s and
company's auditors are aware of that information

Compliance with Walker Guidelines

The Directors consider the annual report and financial statements to comply with all aspects of the
Guidelines for Disciosure and Transparency in Private Equity.

Appraved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:
Michael Cox

Chief Financiai Officer
11 August 2023
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of IRIS Debtco Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, IRIS Debtco Limited's group financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial
statements™):

« give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at 30 April 2023 and of the group's
loss and the group's cash flows for the year then ended;

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted intemational accounting standards as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

« have been preparec in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial staterments, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the Consolidated and Parent
Company Balance Sheet as at 30 April 2023; the Consolidated Income statement and Censolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, and the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of
Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the
significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing {UK) {“1SAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our gpinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fuifilled our other ethical
" respensibilities in accordance with these requirements.,

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concem
for a period of at least twelve months fram when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

tn auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because nat alf future events or conditions can be predicled, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group's
and the company’s ability to cantinue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concem are described in the relevant
sections of this report.
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Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Apnual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditars’ repoart thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not coverthe other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this repont, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial staterments, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears o be matenally misstated. if we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
missiatement, we are requited to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we condude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report ang Directors’ report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Campanies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ report
In our apinian, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and
Directors’ report for the year ended 30 April 2023 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we did not identify any materiat misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors® report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they deterrmine is necessary
to enable the praparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the company's ability to
continye as a gaing concern, disciosing, as applicable, matiers related to going concem and using the going concern basis
of accounting uniess the direclors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or o cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do s0.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

OQur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or erfor, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, bul is nal a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with (SAs (UK will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered matenal if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expecled to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

Irreguilarities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with [aws and regulations. We design procedures in line with

our respansibilities, outlined above, to detect malerial misstatements in respect of imegularibes, including fraud. The extent
to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, 1s detailed below.
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Based on our understanding of the group and ingustry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations related to Companies Act 2006, employment law, UK tax legisiation and Data Protection Act, and we considered
the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We evaluated management's
incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements {including the risk of override of controls),
and determined that the principal risks were related to increasing profit by posting inappropriate joumal entries 1o increase
revenue and/or reduce expenses included within EBITDA and applying management bias in accounting estimates. Audit
procedures performed by the engagement team included:

» Enguiries with the management, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non compliance with laws
and regulations and fraud;

* Reviewing Board meeting minutes;

« Designing audit procedures to incorporate unpredictability around the nature, timing or extent of aur audit testing;

+ Identifying and testing a sample of joumal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account
combinations that could increase profit and/or reduce expenses incfuded within EBTIDA; and

+ Assessing management estimates for any bias or inconsistency.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statermnents. Also, the risk of not detecting 2 materia! misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

A further description of our respensibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www frc.org uk/auditarsrespansibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with
Chapler 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or o any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

« we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

= adequate accounting records have nol been Kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

» cerain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

+ the campany financia! statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

/é%,ezx Ao

Gareth Murfitt (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

11 August 2023
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IRIS Debtco Limited

Conscfidated Income Statement
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

Year ended Year ended
30 April 2023 30 Apsil 2022
Note £'000 £'000
Revenue 4 319,080 255,724
Cost of sales [31.416) {25,766}
Gross profit 287,664 229,958
Administrative expenses (270,522) {210,551)
Operating profit 3 17,142 19,407
Finance income 7 4,289 186
Finance costs 8 {230,474} (183,839)
Loss before tax (209,043} {164,246}
Inceme tax credit / (charge) a9 6,893 {14,353}
Lass for the year (202,150} {178,599]
Afiributable to:
Equity holders aof the parent (202,752) {179.033)
Non-controtling interests 3z 802 434
{202,150) (178,599)
023 2022
£'000 £000
Management Revenue 32 321,873 257,862
Management £8(TDA a3 138,054 113,685
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IRIS Debtco Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive (expense)/ income
ltams that wiil be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchangs ditferences on translation of foreign operalions
Total other comprehensive (expense)/ income

Total comprehensive expense for the year

Aftributable to:
Equity hoiders of the parent
Mon-controlling interests

for the Year ended 30 April 2023
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Year ended Year ended

30 April 2023 30 April 2022

Note £'000 £000
(202,150} (178,599)

f2,524) 7.314

12,524) T34

[2.524) 7,14

(204,574} {171,285)

(205,113) {171.864)

32 439 579
{2D4.674) {171,285




IRES Debtco Limited

Assets

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Rroperty. plarmt and egquipment
Contract assets

Right-of-use assels

Deferred tax

Current assets

Inventories

Yrade and other receivables
Corporation tax

Contract assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities

Client obligations

Trade and pther payables
Corparation tax

Lease habilities

Contract habilites
Accruals

Provisions

Non-current liabilities
Baorrowings

Lease habilities
Deferred tax
Provisions

Total liabilities

Net fiabilities

Equity

Called up share capital

Share premium

Foreign exchange translation reserve
Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to equity halders
of the parent

Non-controlling interasts

Tatal equity

Consolidated Balance $Sheet
As at 30 April 2023

Note

10
4.1

12
17

14

4.1
15

20
18.4

18.4.19

23
23

32

Restated Restated
2023 2022 2021
£000 £'080 £000
1,848,508 1,779.324 1,614.110
4,802 5,692 7.085
10,571 9.276 7674
14,106 12,081 12,176
261 2,052 797
1,878,348 1,809,335 1,641.842
195 12 75
78.926 73.906 46,913
784 1,999 1,085
5,355 ERF 2,857
183,614 237,239 99,306
268,874 317,383 150,236
2,147,122 2,126,708 1,792,078
146,073 114,085 19,522
1,542,058 1,375.723 1,225,067
2,205 2,476 631
3279 2,161 2586
111,084 98,360 81,954
48,199 52,808 47,989
53 331 1,216
1,852,951 1,643,944 1,378,965
862,750 859,969 651,832
11,434 10,748 10,689
127,963 125,868 100,792
2,821 1812 -
1,004,968 998,397 763,313
2,857,919 2,642,341 2,142,278
(710,797} (515,633) {350,200)
9 9 9
938 918 938
4 664 7.025 {144)
{719,328) {526.086) (352.805)
(713,717} (518.114) (352,102)
2,920 2,481 1,502
(710,797) {515,633} [350,200)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 34 to 67 of IRIS Debico Limited (regislered number 11368604} were approved by the Board of Directors and authonsed

for issue an 11 August 2023. They were sighed on its behalf by.

M Cox W
Director
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IRIS Debtco Limited

Parent Company Balance Sheet
As at 30 April 2023

2023 2022
Note £°000 £'000
Assets
Non-current assets
Iinvestments 13 947 947
947 947
Current assets
Trade and olher receivables 14 1,514,406 1,352,149
1,514,406 1,352,149
Total assets 1,515,353 1,353,006
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 1,514,406 1,352,149
1,514,406 1.352,149
Totat liabilities 1,514,406 1,352,149
Net assets 947 947
Equity
Catled up share capital 23 9 9
Share premium 23 938 938
Retained eamings’ 27 . R
Total equity o947 947
Note:

! The result for the financial year dealt with in the financial statements of the Company 1s Enil {2022; £nil).

The financial statements on pages M to 67 of IRIS Debico Limiled (registered number 11358604) were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on
11 August 2023, They were signed on its behalf by:

Y

M Cox
Director
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IRIS Debtco Limited

Operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustmants lc reconcile loss befora tax 10 nel cash flows:

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

Depreciation and Ipss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation and loss on right-of-use assels
Amortisation of acquired miangibles
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Share based payments
Finance income
Finance costs
Foreign cumency losses
Working capital adjustments:
lncrease in inventanes
Increase in trade and ather receivables
Increase in accruals and deferred income
Decrease in client obligaticns
increase in trade and other payables
Increase in provisions
Cash generated from underlying operations
Income tax paid
Net cash flows generated from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Cevelopment expenditure

Proceeds from sale of property

Acguisition of subsidianes, nel of cash acquired
Resiricted cash (client funds) acquired
Deferred consideraticn paid

Interesl received

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Financing activities

Interest paid

Net proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Net {paymen o) / receipt from Qconan Limiteg

Repayment of capital on lease liabilities

Net cash flows generated (used in) from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Changes in Kabilities arising from Financing activities

Bank Joans

Barrowing costs

Interest accrual

Amounts owed 1o Parent undertakings
Lease habilities

Bank loans

Baorrowing costs

Interest accruat

Derivative valuation

Amounts owed © Parent undertakings
Lease [iabilities

Restated
Year ended Year ended
30 Apsril 2023 30 April 2022
Note £'000 E'000
{209.,043) (164,245)
2,730 3,519
2.531 2438
1Q 61,864 56,044
10 12,041 5,796
26 9,510 5,852
7 (4,289) (186)
8 230,474 183,439
3.297 B
{83) (37)
(1.043) {22.610)
13,795 15,187
(24.692) (4,136}
2,386 3,326
255 191
99,733 B597T
(1.138) 423
98,595 83,554
1 (1,631 {1.591)
10 {28.876} (28,796}
- 180
24 (98,402) (170,270}
24 56.680 98,699
(18,081) (15,377}
660 186
{89.620) {116,969)
(62.276) (35.126)
40,850 245,964
(38.648) (39.850)
2728 (33) 513
(1.533) §2,153)
(62,040) 169,348
{53,065} 137,923
15 237,238 59,306
{560) -
183,614 237,239
At Non cash At
1 May 2022 Cash flow flow 30 April 2023
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
870,000 2,202 {2.202) 870,000
{10031} - 2,781 (7.250)
4213 (62,276} 64,034 5,971
1,352,148 - 162,257 1,514,406
12.909 (1,933) 3737 14,713
2,223,240 {62,007} 230,607 2,397,840
At Non cash At
1 May 2021 Cash flow flow 30 April 2022
£'000 £000 £'000 £000
660,000 210,000 - 870,000
(8,168) (3.888) 2,023 {10,031}
3.045 (35,126) 35,294 4213
1,142 - (1.142) -
1.207.262 - 144.887 1,352,148
13.275 (2.153) 1,787 12,909
1,876,556 168,835 183,849 2,229,240

Non-cash flows relate to interest, amodtisation of borrowing tosts. fair value and foreign exchange items, revaluztion of derivative financial instruments, the impact of

acquisilions and the recognilion of lease fiabilines.
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At 1 May 2021

{Loss} / profit for the year

Other comprehensive expense

Total comprehensive {axpense)income
far the year

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:
Share based payments

At 30 April 2022

{Loss} / profit for the year

Other comprahensive income

Total comprehensive (expense)fincome
for the year

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:

Share based payments

At 30 April 2023

At 1 May 2021

Result for the year

Total comprehensive incomae for the year

Consolidated Statemment of Changes in
for the Year ended 30 Aptil 2023

Equity

Foreign Total Equity Non
Called up Share exchange  Actumulated  attributable - A
Share capital  Premium translation I to equity Controlling  Total equity
raserve holders of the Interest
Company
£300 £'000 £000 £'009 £'000 £000 £9000

9 938 {144) (352,905} {352,102) 1,902 {350,200)
) . . (179,033) {179.033) 434 {178,559)
- - 7.169 - 7,169 145 7.3t4
- - 7,169 (179,033} {(171,864) 579 {171,285}
- - - 5,852 5,852 - 3.852
- - - 5,852 5,852 - 5.852
9 338 7025 526,08 518,114} 7481 (515,633}
- - - (202,752} (202,752) 802 {202,150)
- - (2.361) - (2.361) {163) (2,524)
- - {2,361) {202,752) {205,113} 439 {204,674}
- - - 9,510 9.510 - 9510
- - - 9,510 9,510 B 9,510
9 938 4,664 {719,328 ”13.7”5 Z.520 710,797}

it of Ch

Parent Campany S

ges.in Equity,

tor the Year ended 30 April 2023

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Share based payments

At 30 April 2022

Result for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Share based paymenls

At 30 April 2023
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Called up Share Retainaed Total equity
share capital Premium earnings A

£'000 £000 E'000 £'000

9 938 - 947

9 938 - 947
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IRIS Debtco Limited

Notes tc the Financia Statements
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH IFRS

The consolidated and Company financial statements have been prepared in accorgance with UK-adopted international accounting standards, interpretations issued by
the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) and The Companies Act 2006 as applicable 10 companies using IFRS.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 Apnl 2023 (including comparatives) were approved and authorised for issue by the Beard of Directors on 11
August 2023. IRIS Midco Limited is the Group's Parent Company and Perennial Newco 2 L1d i5 the Group's ultimate Parent Company.

The largest and smaflest group of undertakings for which group financial statements are drawn up ang of which the Company is a member is of Perennial Newco 2 Ltd
and copies of these financial statements are available to the public at the Company's registered office set out below.

The Company is a pnvate fimied company, limited by shares, incorporated and damiciled in the United Kingdom (England & Wales). The address of its registered office
and its principal place of business is 4th Floor, Heathrow Approach, 470 London Road, Slough, SL3 8QY.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been applied congistently to afl periods presented, uniess olherwise stated, in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below.

Basis of praparation

The consolidated financial sialernents have been prepared under the historical ces! convention, except where adopted IFRS reguires an atemative treatment. The
principal vanations from the hisiorical cost convention rejate to derivative financial instruments which are measured at fair value through profit and loss and fair value
acquisition accounting.

As permilied by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account for the year. The Company reported a
result for the year ended 30 Apnil 2023 of Enil (2022: Enil).

An individual Company cash flow statement has not been prepared as there are no specific aflocated cash flows.

Prior Year Rastatemnant

tn prior years the group recognised client funds and the comesponding payrol obligation net on the balance sheet, With the majority of client funds naw held in the US
where gross presentation on the balance sheel is standard it's ecnsidered appropnate to align to this treatment wathin the group financial statements. The Statement of
Financial Posdion and refated notes have been resiated lo correct this emar by recagnising the asset and liabilities (gross) within Cash and cash equivalents (Restncled
cash) and the liability within Client obligations {shown as a line item on the Consolidated Balance Sheet within Current liabilities) respectively.

As reported Reclass Restated as As reported Reclass ctient Restated as
. I as at 30/04/22 elient funds at 30/04/22  as at 30/04/21 funds at 30/04/21
Congolidated Bafance Sheet line item £000 €000 ©000 £000 £000 £000
Cash and cash equivalenls 123,154 114,085 237.239 79,784 19,522 99,306
Chertt obligations - (114,085) (114.085) - {12.522) (19.522)
As reported Reclass client Restated as
. lidated Cash Flow S line i as at 30/04/22 funds at 30/04/22
ash Flow ine item £000 £000 £'000
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 19,784 19.522 99,306
Decrease in client obligations - {4.136) (4.136)
Restricted cash {client funds) acquired - 98.699 98,699
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 123,154 114,085 237.239

Basis of consoligation
The conselidated financial stalernents incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entties controlied by the Company (its subsidianes] made up o 30 April
each year. Coniro! is achieved when the Company.

has the power over the invastee,

is exposed, or has rights, 10 variable retur from its invplvement with the investee; and

nas the ability to use ils power to affect its retums,
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
The results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are inclutied in the consolidated meome statement from the date the Company gains control uniess this date 1s within
sufficient prommity to the year end to result in an immaterial impact to the financial statements.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial stalements of subsidiaries 1o bring the accounting policies used into line with the Group's accounting nolicies.
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity. income, expenses and cash flows relating to ¥ansactions between the members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.
Non-contralling interests are initially measured at far vatua. Subsequent to acquisition, the carmying amount of non-Controlling interests is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus the non-controtling interests' share of subsequent changes in equity. An applicable share of total comprehensive income is attributed to non-
cantrolling interests.
Adoption of accounting standards

The fotlowing pransuncements. issued by the IASB, which are effective for periads commencing on of after 1 January 2022, have been applied for the first ime in the
financial staternents for the year ending 30 April 2023,

Onerous Cantracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract (Amendments to 1AS 37), and

Annual Improvements 1o IFRS Standards 2018-2020
The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the ameunts recognised in priar periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.

Certain new dccounting standards, amendments ta accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory lor periods commencing on ar
after 1 January 2022 and have not been early adopted by the Group. These siandards, amendments or interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the
enlity in the cuiTent OF uture reposting periods and on foreseeable future Iransactions.
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IRIS Debico Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

Gaing concern

AL 30 April 2023, the Group had very strong liquidity with £37.5 million of cash and cash equivalents excluding client funds {note 16}, no debt repayable uniil 2025 (note
18 and note 20) and a year end leverage ratio of 5.25x on the £870 miltion Senior loan facility versus a covenant leverage ratio of 9.6x [nole 18). In addition, the Group
has access 1o an additional Revolving Credit Facility of £40 mifion which remained unutifised at the year end {note 20},

In assessing gong concemn, management have considered the Group's budget for the year ended 30 April 2024, as well as on longer tenm forecasts and growth rates.
The strong fiquidity position coupled wilh the recurring and tighly ¢ash generative nature of the dusiness medel, mean the Group is very stable from an operating profit
perspective.

The group had Net cash flows generated from operating activities of £98.6 million for the year ended 30 April 2023 and operating profit before amortisation and
depreciation of £96.3 million.

The Directors are salisfied that the Group has sufficient resources to conlinue in operation for the foreseeable future, a period of nat less than 12 months from the daie of
this report Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and in accordance with those parts of the Companies Act
2006 applicable ts companies reporting under IFRS.

Busi binations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using tha acquisilion method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred
measured at acquisilion date fair value and the amount of any non-conwrolling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group alects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred and induded in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business. it assesses the financial assets and Habilities assumed for appropriate classificalion and designation in accorgance with the
contractual terms, economic tircumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acguisition date. This includes the separation of embeddec desivatives in host coniracts by
the acquiree. If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously heid equity interest is re-measured at its acquisiion date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss It is then considered in the determination of goodwill.

Any conlingent consideralion to be transferrad by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability that is a financial instrurnent and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. is measurad at fair value with changes in fair value recognised either in profit
or loss or as a change to Other comprehensive income, if the contingent consideration is not within the scape of IFRS 9, itis measured in accordance with the
appropnate IFRS. Contingent consideratian that is classified as equity is not re-measured and subsequent seftiement is accounted for wilhin equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any
previous inlerest held, over the net ideatifiable assets acquired and Fabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assels acquired is in excess of the aggregate
conhsideration translered, the Group re-assesses whether it has correcily identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabiities assumed and reviews the
procedures used to measure the amounts o be recognised at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assels acquired
ovet the aggregale consideration transferred. then the gain is recognised in profit or toss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment lesting, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generaling units thal are expected to benefit fram the combination, imespective of
whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigrned 1o those units.

The Group conducts annual impairment tests on the camying value of goodwill, the retoverable amount 1s determined from a combination of value-in-use calculations
and observable relevant market transactions. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash generating units) which for the Growup resulls in there being two cash generating units: the Core RIS busmessas {businass acquired in
Septamber 2018 plus integrated acquisitions o date), and North America.

The key assumptons in the value-in-use calculations are the discount rate applied, the long-term operating margin {EBITDA) and the long-lerm growth rate of net
operating cash flows. In all cases, the approved budget for the following financiai year forms Lhe basis for the cash flow projections, The approved cash flow projections
in the three inancial years following the tudget year reflected management's expectations of the medium-term operaling performance of the business and growth
prospects in the market.

Where goodwill has been ailocated lo a cash-generaling unit and part of the operation within thal unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation
is ingluded in the camying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative vatues of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Deferred consideration
Deferred consideration arises when settiement of all ar part of the cost of a business combpination falls due after the date the acquisition was completed.

Where the payment of deferred consideralion is not contingent upon conlinuing employment of the vendors by the Group, deferred consideralion is stated at the fair
value of the [otal considerat:on gutstanding. In these cases all deferred consideralion has been lrealed as pant of the cost of investment. Al each baiance sheet date
deferred consideration comprises the fair value of the remaining ceferred consideration valued at acquisition.

Where the payment of deferred consideration is contingent upon the continuing empioyment of vendors by the Group. it is treated as a remuneration expense and
acrounted for as an employment cenefit under IAS 19. A charge is made through the Consolidated Income Statement 2s a cost of employment. The cost associated with
gach payment is accrued over the penod it is eamed. Al each balance sheel daie the conlingent deferred consideration Balance compnses the accrual for unsettled
remuneration which has been expensed to the balance sheet date.
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IRiS Debtco Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)
far the Yeac ended 30 April 2023

Current versus non-current classification

The Group presents assets and habifities in the bafance sheet based on cument/nan-Current classification. An asset is curent wien il i5:

- Expected 10 be realised or inlended 1o be sold or consumed in nomal operating cycle;

- Held primanly fcr the purpose of trading;

- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reperting period; or

+ Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used te settle 3 liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting pericd

Alt ather assels are classifiad as non-current. A fiability is curent when:

« lis expected to be setited in normal operating cycle;

- Ris held primarily for the purpese of trading;

- Itis due o be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

« There is no unconditional right to defer the settiement of the liability for at least twaive manths after the reporting period

The Group dassifies all other liabilities as non-cumrent.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assels and liabilities.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures financial nstruments, such as denvatives, and non-financial assets such as investment proparties, at fair value at each balance sheet
date. Alsq, fair values of financial mstruments measured at amartised cost are disclased in note 18 2.

Fair value is the price that wauld be received o sell an asset or paid o transfer a hability in an onderly transaction between masket panticipants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption thal the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability; ar
- In the absence of a printipal market, in the most advantagesus market for the asset af liability

The prncipal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group

The fair value of ap asset or a liability is measured using the assumplions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or iability, assuming that market
participants act in their ecanomic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes inlo account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in it$ highest and Dest use.

The Group uses valuabon 1echniques that are appropnate in tse circumstances and for which sufiicient data are available to measure (aic valus, maximising the use of
relevant observable inpuls and minimesing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements arg categorised within the fair value hierarchy, descnbed as follows,
based on the lowest leve! input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

- Level 1 - Quoled {unadjusted) market prices in aclive markets for identical assets or liabilities
- Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowes! leve! input that is significant to the fair vaiue measurement is directly or indirectly abservabie
- Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest! level input thas is significant lo the fair value measurement is unohservable

For assels and liabilities thal are recagnised in the financial statements on a recurnng basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in
e hierarchy by re-assessing calegorisation (based on the lowest levet input that is signifizant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of ach reporting
penod.

The Group getermines the policies and procedures for both recumng fair valug measurement, such as investment praperties, and for non-recumng measurement, such
as asgsets held for distribwtion in discontinued operations

At gach repoding date, the Group analyses ihe movements in the values of assels and liabilities which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per its
accauniing poficies, For this analysis, the Group verifies the major inputs appired in the fatest valuation by agreeing the infommation in the valuaticn computation to
contracts and other relevant documents,

The Group also compares each change in the fair value of each assel and liability with reievant extemai sources 1o determine whether the changa is reasonable.

The Group's review includes a discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations. For the purpose of [sir value disclosures, the Group has delermined classes
of assels and liabiliies on the Dasis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the assel or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

IFRS 9 Expected Credit t oss
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplfied approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a hfetime expected foss allowance for all irade receivables and

contract assets. The expected |oss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales and the corresponding histancal credit losses experienced The current and forward
fooking information on magroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the cusiomers (o setie the receivables are alsa cansidered.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In recegnising revenue undes IFRS 15, Management have fallowed the five step model and considered identification of the contracl with a customer; idenlfication of

performante obligations of each contracl; lransaction price: allotation of Iransactien price 1o performance obligation and recognition of revenue at the paint the
performance obligation has been sausfied.
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IRIS Debtco Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

Revenue and incoma recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideralion received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided
in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other salesretated taxes. Revenue represents invoiced softwarg licence fee income,
support and maintenance income and services income.
+ Subscnption and cloud based Software as a Service (SaaS) income are recogrused overtime in the month the service is provided.
+ Support and maintenance income s defetred at the data of invoicing and released to the profit and loss account overtime across the duration of the maintenance
contract. The balance of maintenance income not released 1o the profit and loss account is camied in the balance sheet within contract liabdities.
+ Transactional and Payment revenue is recognised at a point in time on fulfilment of the service.
- Professicnal services income is recognised at a point in time in the month the services are performed. Training and implementation revenue is recogmsed al a point
- Managed services income Is recognised overtime in the month the services are perfomed.
+ Perpetual and on premise term licence fee incomne is secognised at a poinl in lime on delivery of ihe licence and the issue of authorisalion codes 1o actvate the
legislative updates are required to on-premise scftware in order to remain functional, the Group recognises revenue from that software over the period of the license.
When a sale invoives multiple performance obfigations, such as a combination of services, the performance obiigations are evaluaied and revenue allocated armpngst
these performance abligations in 2 manner that reflects the consideration the Group expects to be entitled to based on standalone selling prices (SSP). 55P is estimated
for each distine! performance obligation. Revenue is recognised when the revenue recognition criteria for each performance obligation is met.

Cost of sales and administration expenses

Cost of sales includes items such as third-party subcontractors, custemer hosting costs, transaction and credit card fees, and the cost of hardware. These atso include
the third-party costs of providing training and professional services to custarners. All other pperating expenses, inciuding acquisition related expenses, are recorded in
administrative expenses.

Preference Shares

The preference shares are acceuntad for in accordance with IAS 3B. The preference shares have a fixed repayment date and are interest bearing. The preference
shares are redeemable at Ihe oplion of the holder. As such the preference shares are accounted for as a financial liability and included within borrowings.
Taxes
Current income tax
Current income tax assats and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorilies, The tax
rates ang Lax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacled or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates
and generates taxable income.
Current income tax relaling to items fecognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the staterment of profit or loss. Manageme pencdically evaluates
positions taken in the tax retumns with respect to siluations in which applicable tax regulations are subject 1o interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liabifity method on temporary differences between the tax bases af assels and liabilities and their carmying amounts for fnancial
reporting purposes at the reporting dale.
Deferred tax liabiiies are recognised for all laxable temporary differences, except:
+ Wyhen the deferred tax kability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liabiity in a transaction that is not a business combination

and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxabte profit or loss.

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associales and interests in jomt ventures, when the tming

of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlted and it is prabable that the temporasy differences witl not reverse in the foreseeable

future,
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company 15 able to control the Giming of the raversal of the temporary differences and i is probable thal the differences will not reverse in the fareseeable future.

Deferred 1ax assets are recognised for all deductibie lemporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any unused lax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deduclible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused Lax losses can be utilised, except.
* When the deferred tax asset refating to the deduchble temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or iability in a transaction

that is not a business combination and, at lhe time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxabte profit or less.
- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investmeants in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax

assels are recognised only to the extent that il is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseesable fulure and taxable profit will

be availabte against which the lemporary differences can be utilised.
The carying amount of geferred tax assets s reviewed al each reporting date and reduced {0 the extent that it is no langer probadle that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all ar part of the deferred tax asset 1o be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised o the
extent that it has became probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset 1o be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected lo apply in the year when the asset is realfised or the liability 1s seftled, based on tax
rates {and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date,

Deferred tax relating to Mems recognised outside profil of loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Dafarred tax items are recognised in comelation tg the underying
transaction either in Other comprehensive incorme or directly in equity.

Delerred tax asseis and deferred tax liabilites are offset if a legally enfarceable right exists 1o set off current tax assets against current incgme tax liabilities and the
deferred taxes relate to the same {axable entity and the same taxation authority.

Tax benefils acquired as part of a business combination, but not satistying the criteria for separate recognilion at that date. are recognised subsequenily if new
information about facls and circumstances change. The adjustment is either reated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as il does nol exteed gooduwill} if ¢ was incurred
dunng the measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.

Judgements and estimates

Tax Eabifities are recognised when it is considered probable that there will be a future outflow of funds 10 a taxing authonty. In such cases. provision is made for the
amount that is expected 10 be settled. where this can be reasonably estimated. Provisions for uncertain income tax positionsitrealments are measured at the most likely
amount or the expected value, whichever method is more appropriate. Generally. uncertain tax treatments are assessed on an individual basis, excepl where they are
expected to be settled collectively. it is assumed thal taxing authorities will examine posilions 1akea if they have the right 1o do sa and that they have full knowledge of the
relevant information. A change in estimate of the likelinoed of a future outflow andfor in the expected amount 1o be setfled would be recognised in income in the pedod in
which the change occurs. This requires the agplication of judgement as lo the ultimale outcome, which can change over time depanding on facts and circumstances.
Judgemaents mainly relale to transfer pricing including intercormpany financing and expenditure deductible for lax purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only o the extent it is considered probable that those assets will be recoverable. This involves an assessment of when those assets
are likely to reverse, and a judgement as to whether or not there will be sufficient taxable profils availabte 10 offset the assels when they do reverse. This requires
assumptions regarding future profilability and is therefore inherently uncertain. To the extent assumplions regarging future profitability change. there can be an increase
or decrease in the amounts recogmsed in respect of deferred tax assets as well as in the amounts recognised in income in the peripd in which the change occurs.

Taxation information, incldding charges and deferred tax assels and liabilities, are prasented in Notes 9 and 17.
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IRIS Debtco Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

Foreign eurrencies
Functional 2nd presentation currency
The consolidated financial stalements are presented in Stering, which is 1he functional currency of the parent company.

Transactions and halances

Foreign cumency transaclions are recorded at the rates of exchange prévailing on the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency monetary items are lranslated at the
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting penpd. Non-mongtary items carried at {air value that are denominated n fereign currencies are relransiated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in termas of historical cost in a foreign cutrency are not retransiated.

Exchange differences arising on the setttements of monetary items and on the retranslation of monetary items are included in profit of loss for the period. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary ilems camied al fair vakue are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslanon of non-monetary items in respect of which gaing andg lasses are recognised in Other comprehensive income. Far Ssuch non-monetary items, any exchange
component of that gain or Toss is also recognised in Other comprehensive income.

Group companies

On consolidatan, the assets and liabilities of fareign aperations are translated into steding at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their income
statements are trans|ated at the average rates of exchange during the year. The exchange differences arising on iranslation for consolidation are recognised in Other
comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of Diher comprehensive income refating to that panicular foreigh operation is recognised in
profit ar loss.

Dividend distribution

Dividend disinbution o the Comparny's shareholders is recognised as a hiability in the Group's fingacial stalements in the period in which the dividends are approved
by (for final dwidends) or pawd 1o (for interim dividends) the Company's sharehalders.

Intangible asgets

Intangibile assets aviging o busingss combinguans are stated at fair value tess accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is charged to the Ingome statement on a siraight-line basis over their esimated usefut lives as lollows:

Brand 10 years
Development expenditure S years
intellectual property rights 510 12 years
Customer refationships Tlo 21 years

Research & development
Research casts are expensed as incurred . Development expenditure on an individual project is recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can demanstrate;

* The technical feasibility of completing the inlangible asset so that the asset will be available for use or sale;
- its intention Yo complete and its abifity to use or sell the asset;

- How the asset will generate future economic benefits;

+ The availabitity of resources io complete the asset:

- The ahbility to measure refiably the expenditure during development; and

» The ability to use the intangible asset generated

Where the Oirectors are satisfied as W the techmical, commercial and Rnancial viability of individual projects, the identifiable expenditure is deferred and amortised over
the penod dunag which the Group is expected to Denefl. Amartisation relates 1o the periad in which future cash ows are expected (0 arise which is expected (o be five

years.
Property, plant and equipment

Propeny, plant and equipment is stated at cost net of depreciation and any provision for impairment. Depreciatian 15 provided on a straight line basis at the following
annual rates in order {0 write off the cost less residual vake of each category of asset over its estimated useful lite as follows:

Freehaold land nil

Freehold buildings 2.7%

Leasehold improvements the lower of 20% and the parod of the leasehold
Computer equipment 10% to 33%

Fidures and fitings 10% t0 20%
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a conltract is or contains 3 lease, al inception of a contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a cormesponding lease
liability with respect to all lease agreements in which it is the lessee, excepl for shon-term leases {defined as Jzases with a lease terrn of 12 months or less) and
leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recogmises the lease payments as an operating expense on a siraight-ling basis over the termn of the lease
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattem in which econemic benefils from the leased asset are consumed.

The lease liability is inilially measured at the present value of the [ease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in
the [ease_ If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liabrlity comprise:

+ fixed lzase payments, less any lsase incentives;

= variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, inially measured using the index or rate at the commencement cate:
- payments of penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the exarcise of an option to tesminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consalidated statement of financial position

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the cammying amaount to reflect interast on the lease liability (using the eflective nterest mathod) and by
reducing the camying amount to reflact the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liabikty {and makes a comesponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever

« the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised [ease payments using a revised discount rate.

» the lease payments change dire lo changes in an index or rate ar a change in expecled paymenl under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is measured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate {unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate 1s used).

- 8 lease contract is modified and the lease maodification is nat accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using 2 revised discount rate.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the years presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the comresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day and any initiat
direct costs. They are subsequenily measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased assel, restore the site on which it is localed or resiore the underlying assel Io
the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under 1AS 37. The cosls are included in the related
right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce invenlories,

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset or the cast of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencemert date of the lease,

The right-of-use assets are presenied as a separate line in the consolidated statement of inancial pasition.
The Group applies L1AS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Vanable rents that do not depend on an index o« rale are aol included in the measurement of the lease lability and the right-of-use asset. The related paymenis are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that Iriggers those payments occurs and are included in the line “other expenses” in the
statement of profit or loss.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee nol to separate non-lease components, and inslead account for any lease and associated non-lease components
as a single amangement. The Group has not used this practical expedient.

tnvastments

Fixed assel investments are stated at cost kess provision far impairment,

Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful lile are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-financial assels are tesied for impaimment whenever evenis or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying ameunt may nol be recoverable. An impairment loss s recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs Lo sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowesl levels for which there are separately identifiabie cash flows [cash generating units} which for the Group results in there being two cash generating units: the Core
IR1S businesses {business acquired in September 2018 plus integrated acquisitions lo date), and and North America, which following significant growth in recent years
is now viewed as a standalone CGU as of 1 May 2022

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to delermine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired.

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of
\hat asset. For certain catagonies of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed nol to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an
increase in the numbar of delayad payments in the portfolio, as well as observable changes in national or jocal economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impaiment loss direclty for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables. where tha camying
amount is reduced threugh the use of an allowance accaunt. When a trade receivable is considered unccllectivle, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account, Changes in the camying amount of the allowance accounl are
recognised in the Income Statement,
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Inventories

Invenlories are valued at the (ower of cost and net realisable vaiue after making allowances far slow moving or obsolete items.

Cost includes expenditure incurmad in acquiring the inventories and bringing them Lo their existing location and condition. Cost is calcutated using the first-in-first-out
Finangial instruments

Financiai assets and fiabibties are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party 1o the contractual provision of the instrument,

Financial assets are unrecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when tha financial asset and all substantial risks and
rewards are transferred.

A financial liabifity is unrecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled o expires.

Financial assels and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reposted 10 the Consolidated Balance Sheel if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounis and there is an intention 1o seltle 0n a net basis, lo reakse the assets and settle the liabilities siruttaneously.

Trade receivables from contracts with customers

Trade receivables are amounls due from customers far geods sold or Services peformed in the ardinary course of business. They are generally due for Settferent within
30 days and are therefore all classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditionat less provision for
impairment. Because of their short term nature the carmying amount of irade receivables approximales to their far value,

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is eslablished when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due accosding to the
originat terms of the receivables. The Group apptias the IFRS 9 simpiified approach (o measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifelime expected foss alfowance
for all trade receivables and contract assets. The expecled (oss rales are based on the payment profiles of sales and the comesponding historical credit lasses
experienced. The current and forward tooking information on macroeconpmic factors attecting the ability of the customers 10 seitle the receivables are alsp considered.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of preparation of the Consolidated Cash Flow Staiement and the Consolidated Balance Sheet, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bark and in
hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity period of thres months or less. Bank averdrafis that are an integral part of a subsidiary's cash management are
included in cash and cash equivalents where they have a legal right of set-off and there is an intention to settfe net, against positive cash balances, otherwise bank
overdrafls are classified as borrowings.

Interest expense is recognised within Financing Activities on the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement. Interest receivable is recognised within Investing Activities.

The Group also provides canain customers with a managed payrall service whereby the Group receives funds from customers and holds these funds for a penod of time
before using them to pay the payroll amounts and associated payroll taxes due to those customers’ employees and HMRC. The entity has the fght to control these funds
which are reported as ‘Resiricted cash - cifen funds' on the Conisolidated Balance Sheet. with a carresponding fiability presented as ‘Ciient obfigations’. The Group eams
intere:st on Lhe invested funds with this interest being reponed in Interest income on custamer batances/client monies. Interest reported for the year ending 30 Apri 2023
was trivial (30 Apri 2022: trivial).

Trade payables

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. The cammying amounts of irade and other payables arz considerid o be the same as
their faw values, die to their shont-term nature.

Borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initally at fair value less atinbulable ransaction ¢os1s. Subsequent Lo initial recognition, interest-bearing bomowngs are
stated at amortised cost with any difference b » cost and redemption value being recogniged it the income statement over the peniod of borrowing an an effective
interest basis.

Derivative financial instruments

All derivabives are inttialfy recognised at fair value, and are subsequently remeasured at fair value, through the Income Sialement. The Group does not hold or issue
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes,

Where deemed significant, fair values are adjusted to reflect the impact of our credit risk for the derivatives that are in a liability posilion and counterparty credit risk for
the derivatives thal are in an asset position.
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Borrowing costs

Where borrowing cosls are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily lakes a substantial period of lime lo get ready for
its intended use or sale they are capitalised as part of the cost of ihe assel. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing cosls
consist of interest and other costs thal an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Provisions
General

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present abligation {legal or constructive) as a resull of a past event. it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the abligation and a reliable eslimale can be made of the amount of 1he obligation. When the Group expects
sorme or atl of a provision (o be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursementis recogmised as a separate asset, but anly when the
reimbursement is virlually cestain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the stalement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

Provisions for dilapidations

Provisions for dilapications i respect of property leases are recognised when (he propesty lease contracts are entered into. Initial recognition is based on the obligations
wilkin the contracts to retum the properties to their original state on conclusion of the lease terms. Tha initial estimate of dilapidation costs is revised annually.

Post-employment benefits

The Graup operates a personal defined contribution pension scheme which is apen to all employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds. Contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the period are recognised as an aperating cast in the income statement,

Maragement Exceptional ltermns (non GAAP measure)

Managerment exceplional items reflact itemns which individually of, if of a similar type, in aggregate, are disclosed separately due [0 their size or incidence in order to
obtain clear and consistent presenlation of the Group’s underying trading performance.

Share based payments

The Group gives senior managerment, who are employed by a subsidiary company, the opportunity to acquire shares in the ullimate parent company al market valua.
These shares, which are administered by Oconan Limited, following the completion of the takeaver of Estera Trust (Jersey} Limited, cannot be traded and must be sold
back \o the Group when employment ceases. The shaces are only redeemed on sale of the Group. The fair value of the shares is measured at the issue date and is
recognised in equity in the share-based payment reserve. The number of shares expected 1o vest is estimated based on the non-market vesting condilions. The
estimales are revised at the end of each reporting pericd, and adjustments are recognised in profil or loss and the share-based payment reserve. Where shares are
forfeited due 10 a failure by the employee 1o salisfy ihe sarvice candiions, any expenses previously recognised in relation to such shares are reversed effective from the
date of the forfeilure.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Tiwe prepardiion of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of cerain critical accounting estimales and judgemenys. I also requires management to
exercise judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgernents are continually evaluated and are based on histoncal experience and other factors. including expectations of fulure events hal are believed 1o
be reasonable under the cirtumstances.

In particuiar, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in appiying accounting podicies that have the most significard atfect on
the amount recogrised in the financial statements are described below:

Critical judgements in appiying the Group’s accounting policies
Capitalisation of development costs

The Group capitalises internal costs of saftware development, where the Directors are satisfied as to the technical, commercial and financiat viability of individual
projects. Judgement is required in determining whether a project is suitable for capilalisation and in determining the useful economic life (note 10).

Assets refating to contracts with customers

Assets relaling to contracts with customers reprasent commissions paid to employees which are deferred over a five year period. The five year period represents the
expected length of time that the customer relationshig will be relained and as such the cost is recognised over that time period. Where legislalive updates are required to
on-prermise software in order to remain functional, the Group recognises Revenue from that software over the periad of the license.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumplions
Acquisition accounting
Accounting far acquisitions requires a fair value exercise to assess the assets and liabilities acquirad, including any separately identifiable inangible assets. The process

of determining fair values May require managemen to make estimates which are subjective in nature. For each acquisition an approptiate discount and royaity rates
were deterrnined, along with detailed expected future cashflows to calculate the fair value of each identified intangible asset.

impairment - goodwill and other intangibles

IFRS requires management 1o perform impaimment (ests ta determine whether goodwill and other intangible assets are impaired on an annual basis o otherwise when
changes in events or situations indicate that the camying value may not be recoverable.

Irmpairment testing requires management to judge whether the carmying value of assets can be supported by tha net present value of fulure cash flows that they generate.
Calculating the net present value of the future cash flows requires estimates to be made in respect of highly uncertain matters inckuding management’s initial
expectations of EBITDA, the igng-term grawth rate of net gperating cash flows and an appropriate discount rates to reffact the risks invatved. These assumptions have
peen further considered in light of inflation, interest rates, the gecpolitical situation in Eastem Europe, ang the Group's budget for the year ended 30 April 2024 as well as
on longer term forecasts ang growth rates given the uncertainties in the curent environment.

Changing the assumptions selected by management, in particular growth rale assumptions used in the cash flow projections, could significantly atect the Group’s
impairment evajuation and hence reported assets and profils or losses. Further details, including a sensitivity analys:s. are included in note 10 “Intangibie Assets™.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS {continued)
Trade and other receivables

There is uncertainty regarding customers who may nol be able to pay as their invoices fall due. The Group applies the FRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected
credit tosses for all rade receivables and contract assels, The expecied loss rates are estimated using payment profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit
losses experenced. Judgement is used by management in adjusting the expected credit loss rates to incorporate current and forward looking information on
macroeconomic faciors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables (See note 14).

Uncertain tax provisions

Uncertainties exist with respeact to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and the amount and timing of future taxabie income. Given the long-
term nature and complexity of existing contractual agreements, diffetences arising between the actual resus and the assumplions made, or future changes to such
assumplions, could necessitate futyre adjy s o tax income dnd expense afready tecarded. The Group uses in-house tax experts when assessing uncerain 1ax
positians and seeks the adwice of extemal professional advisors where appropriate. The Group recognises provisions for uncertain tax positions when the Group has a3
present obligation as 3 result of a past event and management judge thal it is probable that there will be a2 fulure cutflow of economiz benefits from the Group to setlle
the obligalion. Uncertain tax positions are assessed and measured on an issue by issue basis within the jurisdictions that we operate either using management's
estimate of the mos: likely outcome where the issues are binary, or the expected value approach where the issues have a range of possitle oulcomes (see note 17).

Contingent Consideration

Any deferred contingent consideration is recognised at fair value al the acquisition date, Subsequent changes 10 the fair value of the contingent consideration, which is
deemed 1o be an assel or liability, are recogrised either in the profil and lass accoun! or in ather comprehensive income, in accardance with 1AS 35, Depending on the
conditions of these future conskieratron payments. judgements are made as at the acquisition date and then subsequently updated at the balance sheet date. These

inchzde profil related consideration for which delailed forecasts are produced and the far value of the likely payments are calculated using an appropriale discounl rate.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial iabilities (primarily interest rate swaps) recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on quoted prices
in dctive markels. their fair values are measured using valuation techniques including the Discounted Cash Flow model. The inpuls to these models are taken from
observable markets where possible, but whese this is nol feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of
inputs such as liquigity isk, credit ’isk and volatility. Changes in assumplions aboul these facters cowltt affect he reported fair values of financial instruments (note 18).

REVENUE

Revenue reporied for the year refates sclely to revenue from contracts with customers, with ¢ustomers lypically paying in advance at the start of the contract. When
revenue recognised in respect of a customer contract exceeds amounts received or receivable from a customer at that time, 8 conlract assel s recognised. If amounts
received or receivable fram a customer exceed revenue recognised far a conlrack, for example if the Group receives an advanca payment from & customer, a contract
liabiiity is recognised.

Reverue is disaggregated into both groups of similar products and services that depict the nalure, amount, and timing of revenue and cash flows lor the Company's
vatious offerings, and geography. The analysis of the company’s revenue for the period by class of business, and geography is as follows:

Year ended Year ended

30 Aprif 2023 30 April 2022

Revenue analysis by elass of business £'000 £'000
Support & Subscription 228,957 152,348
Transactanal 10,3684 6,935
Professianal Services 14,790 13,649
Maraged Setvices 58,355 36,783
Licence & Other 6,614 6.009
319 080 255724

Year ended Year ended
30 April 2023 30 Apri) 2022

Revenue analysis by geography £'000 £000
United Kingdarm 252,872 224,495
Nortth America 60.491 27,167
Rest of the World 5717 4,062

—SIa0R0 28574

Assets and liabilities relating to contracts with customers

Assets relating to contracts with customers represent commissions paid to employees which are amortised over a 5 year peripd. Contract assels increased during the
year as the Group continued (o pay commissions to employees, the expansion of the Group's operations following acquisitions during the year (see note 24) and the
cumulative impact of the 5 year deferral period following the incorporation of the Company an 18 May 2018. Accrued revenue al 30 Aprl 2023 totalled £1.445.000 (2022
£1.946.000) and is presented within Prepayments and accrued income,

As at As at

30 April 2023 30 Aprit 2022

£'000 E£'000

Non-current assets relating to contracts 10.571 9,276
Cument assels relating to contracts 5.355 4,127
15,926 13,403

Conwract liabilities represent revenue received up front for contracts which are recognised over 12 months. Contract liabilities increased during the year as a result of the
expansion of the Graup's operations lollowing acquisiions (see nole 24) and an increase in overall contract activity. Substantially all of the £36.360,000 recorded as
cument contract liabilties at 30 April 2022 was recognised as revenue during the year.

As at As at

30 April 2023 30 Aprit 2022

£000 £000

Caontract liabilities 111.084 96,360
111,084 96,360
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STAFF COSTS
Year ended Year ended
30 April 2023 30 April 2022
Employee cosis {in¢luding Directors) dusing the year were: £9000 £000
Wages and salares 119,171 84,850
Social security costs 9.900 B.048
Other pansion costs 2,577 2432
131.6548 95.3%0

The amounts above are staled net of employee cosl capilalised in respedt of development of software assets in the year of £15,674,000 (2022: £15,018,000).
The Company hay no employees {2022 nane).
The average monthly aumber of emplovees (inciuding Directors) of the Group during the year was as follows.

Year ended Year ended
30 April 2023 30 April 2022
Number Mumber
Technical 2172 1,865
Sales 326 289
Administration 602 419
3,100 2,573
Directors’ emoluments Year ended Year ended
30 April 2023 30 April 2022
€000 £000
Aggregate emoluments 1,441 1,401
Pension contributions 52 a8
1,493 1439
Mumber of Directars remunerated 4 4
Number of other Diractors nat remunerated but for which 2 management fee is payable {Sae nole 31) 1 1
Four (2022: four} Directors accrued benefits under the Group's defined cantribution pension scheme.
The highest paid Director in the year received total emofuments while serving as a director of £425,000 {2022: £425,000).
Key managernent remuneration Year ended Year ended
30 April 2023 _-30.April 2022 —
£'000 £'000
Aggregate emoluments 1,441 1,401
Pension contributipns 52 38
1,493 1,439
Number of key management remunerated 4 4
Number of other key management not remunerated but for which a management fee is payable (See note 31) 1 1

Key management included the Executive Chairman, a Non-Executive Director, the Chief Executive Officer and her 2 direct reports for the year.

OPERATING PROFIT
Total Group
Year ended Year ended
30 April 2023 30 April 2022
£000 E'000
The operating profit is stated after charging/ (crediting):
Staff cosls 131,648 95,330
Research and devejopment expenditure 10,810 9,724
Amortisation of intangible assets 73,905 62,840
Transaction related costs 6,426 10,247
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,533 2170
Depreciation of ngnt-of-use-assets 2403 2,470
Contingent consideration fair value adjustment 5413 -
Share based payments 10,988 5,832
Foreign currency losses 3.287 -
Fees payable to the Group's Auditors comprise the following: Year ended Year ended
30 Aprif 2023 30 April 2022
£°000 £'000
Tax services 1041 393
Other assurance Services 209 )
Corporale finance services - 668
Tolal non-audit fees 1,250 1,061
Audit fees - for the audit of parent Company and consolidated finanal statements s 143
Audit fees - for the audit of subsidiary companies 276 385
Tolal fees 1,807 1,589
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FINANCE INCOME

Year ended Year ended
30 Aprik 2023 30 April 2022
£000 £'000
Deposil accounl interest 660 186
Foreign cumency gains on borowmngs 2,202 -
Gain on financial instruments at fair valve through profit o loss (note 18.3) 1427 -
Yotal finance income 4,289 186
FINANGCE COSTS
Year ended Year ended
30 April 2023 30 April 2022
£000 £'000
Bank loan interest 62,563 34,608
Amortisation of loan issue casts 2,782 2,023
Unwinding of discount 1,401 1,777
Bank facility fees 570 998
Net gain on financial instruments al fair value through profit or loss {note 18.3) - {1.142)
Interest expense on lease liabilities a01 688
interesl payable on armounts due to parert undertakings 162,257 144,887
Total finance costs 230,474 183.835
The unwinding of discount 15 in relation to deferred consideratton on the acguisition of subsidiary undertakings.
INCOME TAX (CREDIT) CHARGE
Year ended Year ended
30 April 2023 30 April 2022
£'000 £'000
The major components of income tax {credit) charge are:
Lurrent income (ax:
UK 1ax charge for the current year 2432 1,112
impact of overseas income tax 528 730
Priar year adjustments 55 (497§
3116 1,345
Deferred tax:
Relating to origimation and reversal of temporary differences (10,009) (9,063)
Relating 10 effect of change in tax rates - 22,071
{10,009) 13,008
Income tax [credity charge reported in the income statement (6,893) 14,353
Year ended Year ended
30 April 2023 30 April 2022
£'000 £'000
{209.043) (164,246}

Lass before tax

The tax for the year 15 higher (2022: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19.49% ({2022: 19%). The differences are explained below.

Year ended Year ended

30 April 2023 30 April 2022

£'000 £000

Loss before tax multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 18.48% (2022 19%). {40,742) (31.207)

Effects of:

Expenses nan-deductible for tax purpases 33.549 23.986
Effect of gverseas lax rales {34) .
Effect of current year changes in statutory tax rates on deferred tax balances 329 22,07
Adjustments in respect of prior year tax liabilities 55 {497
16,893) 13,353

Total tax (credit)f charge reported in the income statement
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Development Brand Intellectual Customer Goodwill Total

Expenditure Property Relation-
ships
£000 €000 £000 €000 £000 £'000

COsT
At 1 May 2021 33,511 22,043 206,918 404,707 1.082.897 1,750,076
Assing on acquisition - 2.574 17,089 73,580 88.895 190,148
Additions * 28,796 - - - - 28,796
Effect of changes in koreign exchange rates 21 176 942 3,641 4,441 9221
Disposals - - - . - -
At 30 April 2022 2 52,328 24,793 224,959 481,928 1,184,233 1,978,241
Arising on acquisition - 1.71 10,700 66,614 40,721 119,746
Additions 28.876 - - - - 20,876
EHecl of changes in foreign exchange rates (59) T3 (473) {3.122) (2,085) (5.512)
Disposals {45) - - - - {45)
At 30 April 20237 91,100 26,431 235,186 545,420 1,222,869 2,121,006
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION / IMPAIRMENT
At 1 May 2021 8,906 4,282 46,609 76,169 - 135,956
Amortisation for the year 6,796 2,292 20,407 33,345 - 62,840
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rales 2 8 39 65 - 1M1
Disposals - - - - - -
At 30 April 2022 15,704 6,579 67,055 109,579 - 198,917
Amortisation for the year 12,041 2,522 21,780 37,562 - 73,908
Effect of changes in fareign exchange rales {8) (13) (90) {168} - {279)
Disposals [45) - - - - (45)
At 30 April 2023 27.692 9,088 88,745 146,973 - 272,498
NET BOOX VALUE
At 3¢ April 2023 63,408 17,343 146,441 398,447 1,222,869 1,848,508
At 30 April 2022 46,624 18,214 157,904 372,349 1,184,233 1,779,324

1) Includes £18.4m (2022: £18.5m) of costs incurred in relation to the development of the Elements product, an asset under development as at 30 April 2023.
2) Includes £21.3m [2022. £21 2m) in relation to assets which are in development and not yet amortised as at the balance shest date,

The Graup tests development expendilure, brand, intelleciual property rights and cusiomer relationships annually for impairment, or mose frequantly if there are
indications that such intangible assets might be impaired.

All amortisation charges refating Lo continuing operations in the year have been charged through administrative expenses.

Details of acqursitions in the year are shown in note 24. During the year, goodwill was reviewed for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 “Impaiment of Assets™. For the
purposas of this impairment review, gaodwill far continuing operations has been valued on the basis of discounted future cash llows.

The Group has one class of business baing the provision of software and related services, with many customers using a number of products. Acquisilions are subsumed
inta the main Group over lime as the praduct offerings become fully integrated and the Group's centralised systems and policies are lully adopted by ihe acquired
businesses For the purposes of assessing imparment, assets are grouped at the lawest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating
units), which for the Group resulls in there being two cash generating units: the Cere IRIS businesses (businass acquired in September 2018 plus integrated acquisitions
to date) and North America, which follawing sigrificant growth in recent years is naw viewed as a slandalone GGU as of 1 May 2022. Upon integration into the core IRIS
group, none of the previously reported CGUs (iSAMS, AccounlantsWorld, Dataplan and Sardgate Systems) showed indicators of impairment. The camrying value of
goodwill at the end of the year is shown below:

2023 2022

£'000 €000

Core IRIS Businesses {£58.1m iransferred to Nerth America CGU an 1 May 2022) 1,090,535 1,069,743
North America 132,334 -
iSAMS {subsumed inlo Core IRIS Businesses CGU on 1 May 2022) - 23,328
AccountantsWorld (subsumed into North America CGU on 1 May 2022) . 47,435
Dataptan (subsumed into Core [RIS Businesses CGU on 1 May 2022) - 15,550
Sandgate Systems (subsumed into Core IRIS Businesses CGU on 1 May 2022) - 18,177
1,222,869 1,184,233

The Group conducts annual impairment lests on the camying value of gootwill, the recoverable amount is determined fram a combinalion of value-in-use calculations
and observable relevant market transactions. The key assumptions in the value-in-use calculations are the pre-tax adjusied discount rate applied, EBITDA forecasts and
the long-term growth rate of net aperating cash flows. In all cases, the approved budget for the Financial Year ("FY™) 2024 and a Long Term Plan ("LTP") approved by
the board in July 2023 covering the period FY24-FY28 formed the basis for the cash flow projections. These assumptions were considered alongside detailed sensitivity
analysis to ensure there are no indicators of impairment,
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IRIS Debtco Limited

INTANG{BLE ASSETS (continuad)

Year ended 30 April 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

The table below shows key assumplions used in the value m use calcutabons for those CGLs with significant goodwil) allotated them.

Pre-ax adjusted discount rate

Five year CAGR in adjusted EBITDA tp April 2028
Lang-term growth rate of net operating cash flows

Key assumptions

North

Core IRIS America
13.3% 13.1%
9.9% 176%
2.5% 25%

The discount rate applied represents a pre-tax rate that reflects the market assessment of the Ume value of maney at the end of the year and the risks specific to the

business.

The estimated recoverable amount of the Group's Core IRIS businesses CGU exceeds its camying value by E168 million (11%). The estimated recoverable amount of
the Group's North America CGU exceeds its camying value by £62 milion {23%). If the assumplions used in the impairment review were changed to a greater extert
than as presented in the following table, the changes would, in isolation, lzad to an impairment loss being recognised for the year ended 30 Apnl 2023,

Pre-tax adjusted discount rate

Five year CAGR in adjusted EBITDA to April 2028
Leng-term growth rate of net operating cash flows

Change required for carrying

value to equal recoverable

amount
North
Care RIS America
+1.2% +2.4%
-3.0% -4.1%
-1.8% -3.7%

Management believes that no reasonably possible of forgseeable change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the difference between Ihe carying value
and recoverable amount for any cash-generaling unit 1o be matenally different to the base case disclosed.

PROPERYY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP

COST

At 1 May 2021

Additions

Arising on acguisition

ERect of changes in foreign exchange rates
Disposals

At 30 April 2022

Additions

Arising on acquisition

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
Disposais

Ar 30 Aprif 2023

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 May 2021

Charge for the year

Arising on acquisition

Effect of changes in loreign exchange rates
Disposals

At 30 April 2022

Charge far the year

Ansing on acquasition

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
Disposals

At 30 April 2023

NET BOOK VALUE
Al 30 Aprit 2023

At 30 April 2022

Land and Leasehald Computer Fixtures and
Buildings Improve- Equipment Fittings Total
ments
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £900
1.161 355 11,319 5877 18,912
- 240 1,262 a9 1,591
B 417 923 290 1,630
- 13 56 3 T2
(197) 7) (2.248) (10} {2,462)
964 1,218 11,312 6,249 19,743
- 110 1,480 41 1.631
25 122 232 T4 653
. {22 (68) 1 (a9)
- {185) {240) {223) {648)
933 1.243 12,716 6,342 21,230
747 120 B.520 2,440 11.827
B8 130 2.281 751 3.170
. 215 626 150 991
. 18 38 (60} 4
{13) (7) {1.903) (10} {1,933}
142 476 9,562 3,21 14,051
7 244 1,546 734 2,531
5 82 188 168 443
- (200 87 (1} (88)
- (15) {240) (194) (449)
754 767 16,989 3,578 16,488
235 476 1,727 2,364 4,802
222 742 1.750 2,978 5,692

Freehold land at a cost of £100,000 is included within Land and puildings and is not depreciated.
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IRIS Debtco Limited

RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS
GROUP

COST

At 1 May 2021

Dilapidations provision adjustment

Effect of changes in Toreign exchange rates
Additions

Arising on acquisition

Oisposals

At 30 April 2022

Dilapidations provision adjustment

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
Additions

Arising on acquisition

Disposals

At 30 April 2023

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 May 2021

Charge for the year

EWect of changes in fareign exchange rates
Arfsing on acquisition

Disposals

At 30 April 2022

Charge for the year

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
Arising on acquisilion

Disposals

At 30 April 2023

NET BOOK VALUE
At 30 April 2023

At 30 April 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

Property
leases Total
£000 E'000
15,791 15791
98 98
58 58
599 599
2,396 2,396
(214) {214)
18728 18,728
425 425
(256) 1256)
3444 3444
3338 3,338
{1,547) {1.547)
24132 28732
3615 3,615
2,470 2,470
44 44
596 596
8 {T8)
5.647 6,647
2403 2,403
{129} {129}
2,524 2,524
(1,419) {1,419}
10,026 10,026
14,106 14,106
12,081 12,081

Right-of-use assets refale 1o properly leases held by the Group. The interest charge on right-cf-use assets has been included in Finance Costs within Note 8 and the

charge for amortisatian included in the table above. The amortisat:on charge in the year is included within Administrative Expenses.
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{RIS Debtco Limited

INVESTMENTS

Investment in subsidiary undertakings

COST AND NET BOOK VALUE
At 1 May

Additions

At 30 Aprit

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

The Group's subsidiary undertakings are shown helow.

Creative Solutions Software Comp

Undertaking
123Comms Lirmied"
Accountants Wora LLC*

Apex Holding Sofware Technologies LLC®

Apex Softwarg Technalogies ES LLC®
Apex Software Technalogies LLC?
APS Global Liruted"

Alomic [T Limited'

Bacsflow Limited’

Biostors Limited”

Bilayhall Professipnal Limited'
Campu-Pay Limited”

Conare he*

Creative Soltions Satware Corp''
Oatacode Tech Limited'

Oatapfan Holdings Limited”
Dataplan Payroll Linuted'

Ooc-& Carp*

Doc-k Holdings Ine’

Doc-it e

Eurowage Limitzd’

FMP Glabal Bideo Limited'

EMP HR and Payroll Sottwara Limted’
FMP Payroll Services Limited'
Gataxy Payroll Limited'

Gator Blocker Cop”

Hosted Accountanis Limited'
Indigo Marketng Limiled’
Innarvision Managamant Lievited”
IRIS Amercas Inc.*

IRIS Bidco Limited'

IRIS Business Software Limited'
IRIS Canada Haidings Livited '
IRIS Capital Limhed’

IRIS Globas Inc.”

IRIS Group Limiled'

IRIS Holdings Limited"

IRIS KPO Resourging {tndia) Private Limiled?

IRIS Payroll Software Limiiea"
(RIS Payroll Solubions Limted'
IRIS Resourcing Limited”

IRIS Software Group Lirved"
IRIS Software Limited®

RIS US Holdings Lirsted'
ISAMS Limted"

iSAMS Pty Limited®

Kashflow Software Limed”
Keytime Objective Limited'
Kinetic Markgting & Cesign Limiteg'
MCN Asscciates Linwtea”
MCN Hoidings Limited’
Net-Worx [2001) Limized"

Paychack Plus Payroll Service Ireland Linted”

Payoheck Plus UK Limied"
Payphus Limited*

Phroot Limited”

Practice Engine Spstems Inc.'
PS Financiais Limied’

PS1 Payrall Servicas®

PTP Software Limited'

Country of
registration or
incarporation
England & Wales
usa

USA

usa

USA

England & Wafes
England & Wales
England § Wales
England & Wales
England 8 Waies
Ireland

uUsa

UsA

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
usa

USA

Canada

Engiand & wales
England & Wales
England & Wates
England & Wates
England & Wales
usA

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
USA

England & Wales
Ergland & Walas
Ergiand & Wales
England & Wales
usa

€ngland & Wales.
England & Wales.
Indla

England & Walkes
England & Walas
Engiand & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England L Wales
England & Wales
Australia

England & wales
England & Wales
Frgiand & Watas
England & Walas
England & Wales
England & Wales
tredand

England & Wales
England & Wales
Guernsey

usa

England & Wales
Canada

England & Wales

for the Year ended 30 April 2023

Company
2022/ 2023 2021/ 2022
£'000 £000
947 a47
947 947

Percentage of ordinary shares held

Principal At 30 April 2023 At 30 April 2022

activity Group Company Group Company
Software deveiopmant 100% o% 100% %
Sofware develppment 100% 0% 100% %
Holding company 100% 0% 0% 0%
Holding company 100% 0% 0% 0%
Software davelopment 100% W% 0% 0%
Payrall services 100% 0% 100% %
Software development 100% % 100% %
Software davelepment 100% 0% 100% %
Software development 100% % 100% 0%
Software developmant 100% 0% 100% %
Payroll gervices 100% 0% 100% %
Software cevalopiman 100% % 100% 0%
Payroll services 100% 0% 0% 0%
Software developman! 100% 0% 100% 1%
Holding company 100% % 100% %
Payroll servicas 100% % 100% 0%
Software development 100% 0% 100% b
Saftwarg deveippmaent 100% 0% 100% (12
Software dgevaiopmant 100% % 100% 0%
Paymll services 100% 0% 100% 0%
Holding company 100% 0% 100% 0%
Software development 100% 0% 100% 1Y
Payroll services Dissoved Dissolvad 100% 0%
Software davelopment Dissoked Dissolved 100% 0%
Howding comgany 100% 0% [ 0%
Software daveloameant 100% 0% 100% 0%
Software development 100% 0% 100% 0%
Software developmant 100% 0% 100% 0%
Software development 100% 0% 100% 0%
Holding cofmpany 100% 0% 100% +00%
Softwara developmant 100% 0% 100% 0%
Holding company 100% 0% 100% 0%
Hgling company 100% 0% 100% 0%
Hekiing company 100% 0% 100% 0%
Software development 100% 0% 100% 0%
Holding company 100% 0% 100% %
Ousounting services 56% 0% 56% %
Software development 100% 0% 100% %
Softwars devetopment 100% 0% 100% 0%
Helding company 100% 0% 100% 0%
Hoiding company 100% 0% 100% 0%
Software development 100%. 0% 100% %
Holding cumpany 100% % 100% 0%
Software devalopmenl 100% 0% 100% 0%
Softwara davalopment 100% 0% 100% 0%
Software development 100% 0% 100% %
Holding company Dissoived Drssoived 100% 0%
Paymil services 100% % 100% 0%
Softwara evelopment 100% 0% 100% 0%
Hotding company Dissolved Dissalved 100% o
Sofiware development W00% 0% 0% [14-3
Payrolt services W% 0% Q% %
Payrall services 10% % 0% 0%
Payroll services 1% 0% 100% %
Software tevelopmeni 300% 0% 100% 0%
Software gistnbytion W00% 0% 100% %
Software ceveiopmant Lhssoived Dissovad 0% 0%
Payrell services 100% 0% S00% 0%
Soltwara developmant 100% 0% 100% 0%
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RIS Debtco Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (contjnued)
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

INVESTMENTS (continued)

Country of Percentage of ordinary shares held
registration or Principal At 30 April 2023 At 30 April 2022
Undertaking incorporation activity Group Company Group Company
Results Squared Limiled' England & Wales. Sofware development 100% % 100% 0%
Sandgale BG timited" Bulgana Sofiware davatapment 100% % 100% 0%
Sandgate Systems Limited' England & Wales Software devefopmenl 100% 0% 100% %
Sema $aaS Limited' £ngland & Wates Software development 100% o% 100% %
Stffology Limited’ England & Wales Software devetopment 100% 0% 100% 0%
Star Professional Software Sotutions Limited' England & Wales Software development 100% % 1007% e
Sweep Limited' England & Wales Software development 100%. o% 00% 0%
Taxfiller Liited" England & Walgs Sofiware development 100% 0% 100% 0%
The Practies Engine Group Limited" Englang & Wales Software davalopment 100% 0% 100% 0%
Troncmasters Limites’ England & Wates Software devalepment 100% Q% 100% 0%
Truancy Cafl timited’ England & Walk:s Software devetopment 100% % 106% (153
Vinual Business Soutce Limited® England § Wales Payrell services Dissoved Dissoved 100% 0%
! Subsldiary registersd : 41n Floor, Haathrow Approach, 470 London Road, Siough, England SL3 8OY
! Subsidiary registersd address: Pottipati Plaza 77, Nungambakkam High Road. Chennai-600 034
¥ Subsidiary registered address: PO Box 186. 1 La Marchani Street, 5t Pater Port, Guemsey, GY1 dHP
* Subsidtary registered address: 44 Millon Ave. 212 STE. Alphareita, GA 30008, USA
* Subsidiary registared address: 4200 South Service Rd, #200, Burlinglon Onlario, L7L 4X53, Canada
* Subsidiary registared addvess. O'Hare Triangle Plaza, 8770 W Bryn Mawr, Suite 1300, Chicago, Hinafs 80831, USA
' Subsidiary regisiered address: @ Trindy Street, Dublin 2, Republic of reland
* 5 y req 36 Gray Streat, Q T, NSW, 2096, i
*Subsidiary registared address: 500 Co'onial Canter Pkwy, Sts 650, Rosweb, GA 30076
* Subsidiary regisiered addrass: Mrisio Beichav No18, FI3, Sofia 1000, Buigaria
" Subsidiary regisiered addrass: 6300 Interfirst Dva, Ann Arbor, MI 48108
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
Group Company Group Company
£000 £'000 £'000 £'900
Current
Trade receivables from contracts with customers 85,334 - 62,006 -
{ ess provision for impairment of receivables {3.805) - (3,484} -
Trade receivables from contracts with cuslomers - net 61,589 - 58,612 -
Other recewvables 5,336 - 7.692 -
Derivative financial fiabilities (note 18.1) 1.427 - - -
Prepaymenis and accrued income 10,574 - 7,602 -
Amounts owad by Group undertakings - 1,514,406 - 1,352,148
78,926 1,514,406 73,906 1,352,149
Trade receivables from contracts wilth customers are non-interesl bearing and are generaily on terms of 30 to 60 days.
Amounts cwed by Geoup undertakings are interest bearing and repayable on demand. The recoverability of these balances is considered in note 18.4.
Movements on the Groyp provision for impairment of trade receivables from contracts with customers were as follows:
2023 2022
E'000 £600
At 1 May 3,484 2.230
LMilised {1.818) (1.683)
Charged to the Income Statement 2,139 2,937
At 30 April 3,805 1,484

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers the ageing of each receivable and any change in the droumstances of the individuat

receivables. The Directors believa that ihere s no further provision required in £xcess of the atlawance for doubttul debis.

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have teen included in administrative expenses in the income statement. Amounts charged to the

allowance account are generally wrilten-off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit josses which uses a lifetime axpected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The
expected loss raies are based on the payment profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit osses experienced. The current and forward looking infarmation

on macroeconomic factors atfecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables are also considered.

The maximum expasure ta credil isk al the end of the year is the fair vaiue of each class of receivables menlioned abave. The Group held no coilateral as secunty. The

Qirectors estimate that the camying value of trade receivables approximated to their fair value.
Inlerest is charged on balances with group underlakings at 12%.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Restated

2023 2022

£'000 £000

Cash at banks and on hand 37,541 123,154
Restricted cash - ctent funds 146,073 114,085
183,614 237,238

The Company had no short term deposits during the current year, Cash a1 barks eams interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The Group held no
shart-term deposits at the year end. The Group's credil risk on cash and eash equivalents is limiled because the counterpanties are well established banks with high

credit ralings.
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IRIS Dabtco Limited

Naotes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

TRADE AND DTHER PAYABLES

Restated
2023 2022
Group Company Group Campany
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Current
Trade payables 7,050 - B.443 -
Amounts owed (o parent undentakings 1.515,192 1,514,406 1.352,967 1,352,149
Social security and ather taxes 2,883 - 2,796 -
VAT 7.922 - 8,198
Other creditors 9.011 - 5.319 -
1,542 058 1,514 406 1,375.723 1,352,149

Trade payables ara non-interest bearing and are normally setted on 30-day terms.

The fair values of trade and other payables are not matenally different to those disclosed abave. There is no matenia! effect on pre-lax profit if the instruments are

accounted for at fair value or amortised cost.

The Group's exposuse (0 curmency and liquidity risk related 1o trade and other payables is dischoged in Note 18

Balances with parent undentakings are unsecured and bear interest at 12%.

DEFERRED TAX

Dafarred tax Kability

Depreciation

.Acqw.r:d Ol.h?r in excess of R Other timing
g o Dervatives differences Total
assels assets -
allowances

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 May 2021 98,771 - 1,909 (218} {467) 99,995
Arising on acquisitions 9,556 - - 177 9,733
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 180 - - - 180
Charged/(credited) (o the income statement 11,362 4,006 218 {2.578) 13,008
At 30 Apri) 2022 119,869 - 5815 B {2,368) 123,916
Arising on acquisitons 18,189 - 1,674 - (4.138) 15,665
Eftect of changes in foreign exchange rates (849) - {54 - 33 (870}
Charged/{credited) to the income statement {11,7586) - 3142 357 {1,752) (10,009}
At 30 April 2023 125,453 - 10,677 357 (8,785) 127,702

At 30 April 2022
Deferred Liability 119,869 - 5,899 - - 125,868
Dafemred Assat - - (84) - {2,868) (2.852)
119,869 . 5,915 (2,868) 122,18
At 30 April 2023

Ceferred Liability 125,453 - 10,938 357 {8,78%) 127,963
Deferred Asset - - {261} - - {261}
125,453 - 10,677 357 {8,785) 127,702

The closing deferred tax liability as at 30 Apnil 2023 has been calculated al 25% (2022: 25%) reflecting the tax rale al which the deferred tax liabslity is expected ic be
reversed in future periods. Deferred tax for other unsdictions 1s calculated at the rates prevailing in the respeclive jurisdictions.

The Group offsets 1ax assels and Kabilities if and only if i has a legally enforceable right ¢ set off current tax assets and curent tax liabilities and the deferred tax assels
and deferred tax liabilites relate to income taxes levied by the sama tax authority.

The Group has total tax tosses of £16.2 million (2022: £6.7 millign) that are available indefinitely lor offsetling against future taxable profits of the campanies in which the

losses arose. Deferred has baen recognised on losses of £5.6m as the group expects future pr

P

y in the f

E1 1m has not been recogrused as a deferred tax asset because the iosses may not be used to offset against non trading profils in the group.

ble future. The deferred tax on the capital losses of

in addition. the Group is subject 10 a Corporate Interest Restriction ("CiR") disallowance of £26m (2022. £9.7m}. The deferred tax on this disallowance has been
recognised on the basis that there would be recaverabilily in the near future.

At 30 April 2023, there was no recognised ceferred tax liability for taxes that would be payable an the unremitted eamings of certain of the Group's subsidiaries or
associate {2022 Enil). The Group has determined that undistributed profits of its subsidiaries or associate will not be distributed i the foreseeable future. The Group has
an agreemant with its assaciate that the profits of the associate will nol ba distribuled until it obtaing Ihe consent of the Group. The company does not loresee such a

consent being given at the reporting date.
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18.1

18.2

18.3

- IRIS Dabtco Limited

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Principal financial assets and liabilities

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

The principal financial instruments used by the Group, from which financial instrument risk arises, are as follows:

- Cash and short term deposits
- Trade and olher receivables
- Trade and other payables

- Accruals

- Provigions

- Lease liabitities

- Loans ang borrowings

Financial assets and [iabilitfes by category

Cash and cash equivalenls
Derivative finandal instruments
Trade and other receivables
Totat financial assets

Trade and other payables
Client obligations
Accruals

Accrued interest

Deferred consideration
Provisions

Lease fabilities

Loans and borowings
Total financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets at
amortised cost

2023 2022 023
£000 €000 EDOD £000
- - 183,614 237,239
1427 - - -
- - 56,925 66,304
1,427 - 250,539 303,543

Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

7023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 - £000
- - 1,542,058 1,375.723
- - 146.073 114,085
- - 28,739 26.493
- - 5974 4213
12,001 22,102 - -
- . 2,874 2.143
- - 14,713 12,809
- - 862,750 859.95%
12,001 22,102 2,603,178~ 2,395,535

Due 10 their short-term nature, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, trace and other recewables, trade and other payables, provisions, lease liabililies,

accrued interest and accruals approximales Lo their fair vatue.

Loans and borrawings are camed at amortised cost which approximates 1o their fair value.

Financial instruments at fair value

The table below anatyses financial instruments camed at fair vaiue by valuation method. Accounting standards require us to disclose them into different leveis as follows:
Level 1 - Fair values measured using quated prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assels or liabilities
Level 2 - Fair values measured using inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability either directly {from prices) or

indirectly (derived from prices)

Level 3 - Fair values measured using inputs for the asset or kability that are not based on observable markel data

Financial assets measured at fair value;
Interest rate instruments
Total financial assets at fair vafue

Financial assels measured at fair value:
interest rate instruments
Total financial assets at fair value

Financial liabililies measured at fair value:
Deferred consideration
Total financial liabilities at fair value

Financial liabilities measured at far value:
Delerred consideration
Total financial liabilities at fair value
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At 30 April 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
- 1427 - 1,427

. 1327 - 1427

At 30 April 2022

Level 1 Level 2

£000 €000

Level 3 Total
£000 £000

At 30 April 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E£000 £000 £000 £000

- - 12,001 12,001

- - 12,001 12,001

At 30 April 2022

Lavel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

- - 22,102 22,102

- - 22,102 22,102
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for the Year ended 30 April 2023 '

Financial instruments at fair value (continued)
There were no transfers between levels during the year. For a reconcibation of movements in level 2 instruments (see note below).

Reconciliation - financial liabilities / {assets)
A reconciiation of the financial liabilities is as follows:

Interest rate swaps Deferred consideration Total

20227 2023 2021/ 2022 2022/ 2023 2021/ 2022 20221 2023 2021/ 2022

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £009

At 1 May - 1,142 22,102 25785 22,102 26,927
Ansing from acquisitions - - 1,198 9,999 1,198 9,999
Paid during the year - - {18,051) (15.377) (18,051) (15,377}
Chranges in fair value to profit ac loss (14274 {1,142} 5411 - 3.88¢ (1,142)
Unwinding of discount - - 1,341 1,695 1,341 1,695
At 30 April {1,427) - 12,001 22,102 10,574 22,102

Deferred consideration arises when settiement of all or part of the cost of a business compination falls due after ihe dale the acquisilion was completed, usually through

an earn-out hbased on post-acquisition performance, and is stated at the fair value of the total consideration outstanding. At 30 April 2023, the fair value of defered

consideration was assessed using aciua! performance to date against each acquisitions’ eam-out largets logether with an assessment of fulure financial performance

based on the Group's approved budget. The sensilivity of deferred consideration payadle lo each acquisitions’ future performance against ean-out iargets could result in '
deferred consideration payable being in a range of between a minimum of £3.5 million (2022: 5.9 millien) to a maximum of £12.7 million including contingent

consideration (2022: £43.1 million).

Under inleres! rate swap conlracts. the Group agreed to exchange the difference betwaen fixed and Nloating rate interest amaounls calculated on agreed national principat
amounts. Such contracts enabled the Group to mitigate the cash flow exposures on the issued variable rate debt heid. The tair value of interest rate swaps at the
repgring date is getermined by discounting the future cash Tows using the curves at the reporting date. The counterparties to the swaps are rmajor global banks.

On 22 November 2022, the Group entered a series of fixed SONIA interest rate swaps for a total notional amount of £435,000,000. The efective dates were 31 October
2022 and terminalion dates are 31 October 2024, with monthly payment dates. The average fixed rates are 4 36%. As at 30 Apri) 2023, these instruments are valued as
an asset of £1.427 000 {2022: no active derivatives)

There has been no reclassification of financial instruments.

Financial risk management

The Group's principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and bomowings, provisions, lease liabilities and trade and other payables. The main
purpese of these financial labilities is 1o finance the Group's operations and 1o provide guarantees & Suppont its operations. The Groug's principat financial assets
include trade and other receivables, and cash and shan-term deposits that derive directly from its operations. The Group enlers into denvatve transactions but its policy
is that no lrading in derivatives lor speculative purposes may be undertaken.

The Group has expasure (o the following rgks from its use of financial instruments: '
(i} credit risk

{id) liquidity risk

(iii) interest rate nsk

(v} Torergn currency risk

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's nsk managernent framewark, The Group's risk management policies
are established to identify ang analyse the risks faced by the Group, to sel appropriate nsk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to (imits, Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 10 reflect changes in Markel conditions and the Group's activities. The Group, through its training and
management standards and proceduces. aims ta develop a disciplined and constructive contral enviranmentt i which all employees understand their roles and
obligations.

The Board of Directors aversees how management manitars compliance with the Greup's fisk management golicies and pracedures and ceviews the adequacy of the
risk management framework in relation ta the risks faced by the Group.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss 1o the Group if a client or counterparty (0 a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from
the Group’s recgivables from clients. The Group is exposed o credit risk from its operating activities (pnmarily trade receivabies) and from its financing aclivities,
including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange Iransactions and other financial instruments. Management has a credit poticy in place and the
expasure ta credit risk is monitared on art ongging basis. No single customer represents more than 1% of reverue.

Al the balance sheet dale there were no significant concentrations of credit nsk. The maximum exposure Lo credit fisk is represented by the camying amount of each
financial asset in the Balance Sheet.

Trade receivables

The Group's credit risk on trade and other receivables is pnmanly attributable to trade receivables. The Group considers the credil quality of trade and other receivables
caliectively and believes that the carrying value of the rade and other receivables thal is disclosed 1n the financial statements gives a fair presentation of the credit quality
of the assets. The Directors estimate thal the carrying vahig of financial assets within trade and other receivables approximated to their fair value.

Customer credit risk is managed subject to the Group's established policy, procedures and conirol relating to cusiomer ¢redit risk managemant. Credit quality of a
customer is assessed and individual credit limils are defined in accordance with this assessment. Ouistanding customer receivables are regularly monitored for
callectabifity. The Directors believe there is a law risk of default due to the high number of recurring customers and credit contro! policies; thus the camying valug is
expected to be the final value received. The Group has no significant congentrations of credit sk since the risk is spread over a large number of unrelated
caunterparties.

Total Irade receivables from contracts with customers (net of allowances) held by the Group al 30 April 2023 amounied to £61,583,000 (2022; £58.612,000).

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients. 1h addition, a large number of minor receivables are grouped into
hamogenous groups and assessed for impainment collectrvely using the expected credit loss model. The calculation is based on actual incurred histerical data

The Groyp does not hold collateral as security. The Group evaluates the conceniration of dsk with respect (o rade recejvables as low. as ils customers are loCated in
several industries and operate \n largely independent markets.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group manages ils exposure to liquidity risk by reviewing Ihe cash resources required to meet its business objectives through both short and long-term cash flow
forecasts. The Group's abjettive is 1o maintain a balance between continuity of funding and fexibility through the use of bank loans and other borrowings. The Group's
reasury function has a policy of optimising the level of cash in the businesses in arder to minimise external borowings, whilst ensuring flexibility for potential

acquisitions,

The maturity profile of the anticipated future cash flows including interest in relation (o the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis which,

therefore, differs from both the camying value and fair value, is as follows:
i Trade and
. c_l:ent . ITe.a.se Provisions  Borrowings other
At 30 April 2023 ebligations liabilities payables Accruals Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 EODD £000 £000
In less than 1 year 146,073 3,279 53 - 1,542,058 48,199 1,739,662
In mare than 1 year but not move than 2 years - 2782 524 - . . 3,306
In more than 2 years but not more than 5 years - 6,332 1.114 870,000 - - 877,446
In more than 5 years - 6,220 2,125 - . - 8,345
Effect of discount/financing rates . 3,900, {942} {7,250) - - {12.082)
146,073 14,713 2,674 862,750 1,542,058 48,19% 2,616,667
) Trade and
. C!lent . I._.e_-a_sa Provisions  Bomowings other
At 30 April 2022 obligations liabilities payables Accruals Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
In less than 1 year 114,085 2,161 3 - 1,375,723 52.808 1,545,108
In more than 1 year but not more than 2 years - 2,137 BD - - . 2,217
In more than 2 years but not more than 5 years - 5,587 765 870,000 - - B876.352
In more than 5 years - 6,548 1,644 - - - 8,192
Effect of discount/financing rates - (3.524) (677) {10,031) - - (14,232)
114,085 12,909 2,143 859,963 1,375,723 52,808 2,417,637

The current Senior loan facility of £870 million (see note 20) include a leverage covenant which requires the |everage {the ratio of Consolidated Senior Secured Net
Leverage to Consolidated Pro Forma EBITDA) does not exceed 9.6x. At year end the leverage was substantially befow this level at 5.25x, which has not increased

matenaily year on year despite IRIS making significant acquisitions in the year.

Interest rate risk
Interast rate risk is the risk thal the fair value or fulure cash flows of a financial insirument will fluctuate because of changes in market interast rates. The Group's
exposure lo the risk of changes in Markat interest rates relates prmanly o the Group's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

Foreign currency risk

Fareign cumency nsk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instirument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group's
exposure {o the nsk of changes in foreign exchange rates refales primanly to the Group's operating activities (when revenue or expense is ¢enominaled in a Gifferent
currency from the Group's presertation currency) and the Group's net investments in foreign subsidiaries.

Sensitivity analysis
Financial instruments affected by interést rate and foreign cumency risks include barrowings and derivative financial instruments.
The following analysis is intended ta illystrate the sensilivity to changes in market variables, being stering interest rates and Sterling/Indian Rupee and Sterling/ US

Caollar exchange rates.

The sensitivily analysis assumes reasanable movemants in foreign exchange and interest rales before the eflect of tax. The Group considers a reasonable interest rate
movement in SONIA to be £1.00% (2022, £0.25%), based on interest rate history. Similarty, sensitivity to movements in the Sterling/US Doilar and the Steding/Indian
Rupee exchange rates of £10.00% are shown (2022: +10%) reflecting changes of reasenable propertion in the context of movement w that cumency pair over the last

year,
Using the above assumptions, the following lable shows the illustrative effect on the Consolidaled income stalement and equity.

2023 2022

Tncome Equity Tncome Equity

{losses) {tosses)! (losses) (lassesH

gains gains gains gains

€000 £000 £000 £000

1% increase in marke! interest rates (2022 0.25%) (8.649) (8,649} (2.042) (2,042)
1% decrease in market interest rates (2022: 0.25%) 8,649 8.649 2,042 2,042
10% strengthening of sterling versus other currencies {487} (12.256} {102) (397)
514 13,581 112 : 430

10% weakening of sterling versus other cyrrencies

Capital Management
The group's objectives when managing capital are lo provide retums for sharaholders and benefils for other siakeholders and 1o maintain an oplimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital, In order to maintain or adjust the Group’s capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, retum capital

10 shareholders, issue new shares or amend its debt arangements,
The Group's share capital is disclosed in note 23, and its debt structure 1s detailed in nole 20.
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PROVISIONS

Dilapidations

2023 2022

£000 £000
At 1 May 2143 1,216
Anising on acguisitions. 476 736
Righl-of-use asset additions 425 98
Lease lerminations (162) -
Effec! of changes in loreign exchange rates (68) 1"
Unwinding of discount . 80 82
A2 30 April 2,874 2,143

The provision for dilapidations is in respect of property leases thal contain requirements for the premises to be returned to their original state on the conclusion of the

laase terms.

These provisions are estimales because the actual costs and timing of future cash flows are dependent on luture events. Any differenca between expectations and the

actual future tiability wilk be accounted for when such determination is made.

BORROWINGS

Throughout the year ended 30 April 2023, the Consolidated Facility 8 loan of £870m remained fully drawn down. Al 30 April 2023, the facilikes have a bullet repayment
and remaining term of 2.5 years. The Revolving Credit facility of £40m wilt assist the Group to achieve its growth ambitions both organically and by further acquisitions.

2023 2022
£'000 £000
Non-current
Borrowings 862,750 859,969
T 862,750 853.969
EMective interest rate Maturity Facility
. Utifised
Senior bank loan
Facility B SONIA +4.0% 1o +4.5% margin Sep 2025 870,000
Revolving Credit Facility SONIA +3 0% lo +4.0% margin Mar 2025 -
§70.000
s
An analysis of the maturity of the loans is set out befow:
30 April 2023 30 April 2022
Borrowings Senior Total Senior Totai
£'000 £000 £'000 £000
Amaunts falling due between twe and five years 870,000 270.000 870.000 870.009
Amounts falling due in more than five years - - - -
B70.000 870,000 870,000 870,000
Unamortised borrowng costs (7.250) (7.250) £10,031) (10,031)
Amounts falling due after more than one year 862,750 862,750 859,969 859,969
862,750 862,750 859,962 858.969
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Notes 1o the Financial Statements {continued)
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

BORROWINGS (continued)

Security for the Senior and Second Lien Liabilities takes the form of debentures giving fixed and flaating charges over the assets of certain Group undertakings which
have acceded to 2 cross-guarantee structure. AH other loans are unsecured.

During the year the Group incurred no issue costs in respect of these facilities (2022: £3,886,000). Interest is alfocated against the balance oulstanding and the cosls
plus interest are allocated to the income staiement over the term of the facility uging the straight line method.

COMMITMENTS
The Group and Company had no obligations under finance or operating leases aside from properties aiready disclosed.
Other capital commitments

The Graup and Company had no other capital cammitrments.

ACCRUALS
Group
2023 w2
£'000 £000
Accruals 28,729 26,493
Accrued interest 5,971 4,213
Cash seitled share based payments 1,488 -
Deferrad consideration (note 18.3) 12.001 22,102
48,199 52,808

CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Group and company:
2023 2022
Number Class MNominal value £'000 £'000
947,213 (2022 947.213) Ordinary £0.0 9 ]
9 9
Share premium 938 . 938
947 M7

Ordinary shares carry one vote each. Each share ranks equally for any distnbution made on a winding up. The shares are not redeemable.
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ACQUISITIONS
Paycheck Plus
On 3 May 2022, the Group acquiced 100 per cent of the issued share capital of Paycheck Plus Payroll Services Ireland Limited (which is registered in Ireland) and
Paycheck Plus UK Ltd (which is registered in England and Wales), collectvely referred Lo as "Paycheck Plus™. The fair value of the total consideralion net of cash and
borrawings acquired was £4,410,000. The acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method. The first period of account covers the period from 3 May 2022 to
30 April 2023,
Paycheck Plus managas Irish and UK payrolls for domestic and intemational organisations of afi sizes. it provides an extensive range of payroll oulsourcing services and
has a relenlless focus on accurady, limeliness and compliance.

The following table sets out Lhe book values of the igentifizble assels and fiabilites acquired and thewr pravisianal fair values to the Group:

Book value Revaluation Fair value to
Group
Assets £7000 £000 £000
intangible assats - Customer relationships - 2.049 2,048
Property, plant and equipment 75 - 75
Right-of-use assets 174 - 174
Fradea raceivables fram contracts with customers 155 - 155
Other receivabies 134 - 134
Total assets 538 2,049 2,587
Liabilities
Trade payables 53 - 53
Accruzls 64 - 64
Lease lialiting 151 - 154
Contract liabifities 194 (55) 138
Other payablog 52 - 52
Provisions 29 - 29
Corposalion tax T - 7
Deferred tax - 256 256
Total fiabilities 550 201 751
Total identifiable net assets at fair value, net of cash acquired {12) 1,848 1,836
Goodwill 2,574
Purchase consideration transferred 4.410
Satisfied by —_——
Cash considecaton 4,213
Borrowings setiled 121
Delerred consideration 438
Cash acquired (362}
4,410

The acguired pusiness contiputed revenues of £1,943 000 and net profit of £325,000 to the Group for the penod from 3 May 2022 to 30 April 2023.
Networx

On 7 October 2022, the Group acquired 100 per cenl of the issued share capital of Net-Worx (2001) Limited, which trades as Networx and is registered in England and
Wales. The farr value of the tolal consideration net of cash and bormowings acquired was £25,050,000. The acquisttion was accounted for under the acquisition method.
The first period of account covers the period from 7 Qctlober 2022 to 30 April 2023,

Networne provides recruitment software and services to over 400 comparnes across the educalion, finance, legal, retail and hospitality and housing sectors in the UK. its.
integrated regruitment sofiware enables in-house recrutment teams and HR professionals to atiract, engage, manage and onboard top talent.

The following table sets out the hook values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and Iheir provisianal fair values o the Group:

, Fair value to
Book vatue Revaluation alr value

Group
Assgels £000 £'000 £'000
Intangible assets - Custemer relationships - 15,447 15447
Intangitile assels - Technology - 3,845 3.845
Property, plant and equipment 53 - 53
Right-of-use assets 92 - 92
Trade recewables from contracts with customers 1,144 - 1,144
Totat assets 1,289 19,292 20,581
Liabilities
Trade payableg 85 - a5
Accruals 655 - 655
Lease liabilities 81 - 81
Contract liabiibes 1,987 (775) 1,212
Other payables 911 - 911
Provisigns 64 - 64
LCorporalion tax 183 - 183
Deferred tax - 4,792 4,792
Total liabilities 3,966 4,017 7,983
Total identifiatile net assets at fair value, net of cash acquired [2,67T) 15275 12,598
GoodwHl 12.452
Purchase consideration transferred 25,050
Satisfied by =
Cash cansideration 27.259
Deferred consideration 758
Cash acquired {2,968)
25,050

The actuired pusiness contnbuted reveaues of £3.382,000 and net profit of £930,000 to the Group fex the perod fram 7 October to 30 Apnl 2023,
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ACQUISITIONS (continued)
myPay Solutions

©On 21 Oclober 2022, the Group acquired 100 per cent of the issued share capitaf of Creative Solulions Software Corp, which Irades as "myPay Solutions” and is
registered in Delaware, USA, The fair value of the total consideration net of cash and borrowings acquired was £16,843,000. The acquisition was accounted for under

the acquisilion method. The first period of actount covers the period from 21 Cctober 2022 to 30 April 2023,

myPay Solulians is an established and highly regarded pariner 1o CPA fimns, enabling accounting and tax firms to pravide accurate, timely online payrodl services and

payroll tax services to their clients across the Uniled States.
The following table sets out the book vatues of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and their provisional fair values to the Group:

Book value Revaluation Fair value to
Group

Assels £°000 £'000 £000
Intangible assets - Customer relationships . 13,277 13277
Contract assets 1,944 {1,944} -
Restricted cash - client funds 56,680 - 56,680
Corporation tax 59 - 5%
Deferred tax 222 - 222
Total assets 58,905 11,3 70,238
Liabilities
Trade payables 104 - 04
Client abligations 56.680 - 56,680
Accruals 1,309 . 4,509
Contract liabilities 325 (68) 257
Other payables 1721 - ¥4l
Deferred tax - 3,028 3,028
Total liabilities 58,739 2,960 61,693
Total identifiable net assets at fair value, net of cash acquired 166 8.373 8.539
Goodwill B.304

Purchase consideration transferred

Satisfied by
Cash consideration
Cash acquired

The acquired business contributed revenues of £9,488,000 and net profit of £794,000 to the Group for the perod from 21 October to 30 Apnf 2023,

Apex

75883

19,567
(2.724)
16.843

On 24 February 2023, the Group acguired 100 per cent of the issued share capital of Gator Blacker Corp {which is registered in Delaware, USA) and ils subsidiaries
Apex Software Technologies LLC, Apex Software Technoiogies ES LLC and Apex Holdings Software Technotogies LLC (collectively referred 10 as "Apex”). The fair
value of the 1otal consideration net of cash and borrowings acquired was £54,049.000. The acquisition was accounted lor under the acquisition method. The first period

of account covers the period from 24 February 2023 to 30 April 2023,

Apex is a leading cloud based Human Capital Management {HCM) software provider far payroll service bureaus (PSBs) and Certilied Public Accountant (CPA) firms.

The following table sets out the book values of the identifiable assets and liabilMies acquired and their provisional fair values to the Group.

Book value Revaluation Fair value to
Group
Assets £900 £000 £900
Intangible assets - Customer relationships - 5.4 35,841
Intangible assets - Technology - 6.855 5,855
Intangible assets - Brand - 1711 1,711
Property, plant and equipment 81 - B1
Righl-of-use assets 547 - 547
Trade receivables from contracts with customers 26 - 286
Deferred tax - 2,316 2,315
Other receivatiles 1.776 - 1,778
Total assets 2,430 46,723 49,153
Liabilities
Trade payables 134 - 154
Accruals 703 - 703
Contract liabilities 382 {120) 262
Lease liabiities 622 - 822
Provisions 383 - 383
Olher payables 244 - 244
Deferred tax - 10,127 10,127
Total liabilities 2,488 10,007 12,495
Total identifiable net assets at fair value, net of cash acquired (58) 36,716 36,658
Goodwill 17,391
Purchase consideration transferred 54,049
Satisfied by
Cash consideration 36,324
Borrowings setlled 19,591
Cash acquired {1,863)
54,049

The acquired business contributed revenues of £2,056.000 and net profil of 310,000 to the Group for the period from 24 February 2023 to 30 April 2023.
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ACQUISITIONS (continued)
Deferred consideration on acquisition

Deferred consideration represents contingent consideration payable lo the vendors by the Group that is not linked to each vendors’ conlinued employment. Where the
payment of deferred consideration is contingent upon the continuing employment of vendars by the Group, it is treated as a remuneration expense and a charge is made
through the Consolidated Income Statement as 2 cost of employment.

Pro-forma effect of acquisitions on revenue and profit
it the: acquisitions had occumed on 1 May 2022, consolidated pro-forma revenue and net loss before tax for the Group for the year ended 30 April 2023 would
£338.320,000 and £206,113.000 respeclively. Tha figures include IFRS3 fair value adiustmants which affect the post acquisition revenue and net loss.

These amounts have heen calculated using the subsidiary's results prepared using accounting policies which are consistent with the Group's and adjusting
them [or the additional depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged agsuming the fair value adjustments to property, plant and equpment and
intangible assets had applied from 1 May 2022 No adjustment has been made for additiona! financing that was required to finance the acquisition.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The Group and Company have no eveats to report after the balance sheet date.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

in pricr years the ultmate parent company issued equity settled shares to management, who are emplaoyed by a subsidiary company {2022: 24 855 C1 shares) which can
te sold only on leaving the business, at cost, or on the sale of the business which (s the date on the forecast maturity, details of which are set out below. In the year
ended 30 April 2023, the ultimate parent company set aside 6,356 cash settled C1 shares (2022: 900 C1 Shares) for management, who are employed by a subsidiary
company. The employees will be entitied to receive a cash bonus equivalent to sale proceeds on the sale of the business.

These shares fail under the definition of share based payments and are reported under [FRS2,

The tair value of the shares issued n prior years was calculated wsing the Monte Carlo model that takes into account the exercise pnce, the term of the option, the
impact of dilution {where materiat), the share price at grant date {based on an assessment of enterprise value using a discounted cash flow approach) and expeclad
price volatility of the underlying share. the expected dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. and the corrglations and volatilities of the peer
group companies. The inputs 1o the model and fair value charge are:

2023 2022 2022 2021 2020 2019
Grant A Grant 8 Grant A Grant A Grant A Grant A
Sattiement method Cash Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity
Share pnce on issue £793 E16 £10 £5 €5 £
Prce pad £1 £1 £1 £1 £1 £
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 1.3% 1.3%
Forecast maturity 30/04/2024 30/04/2024 3010472022 30104/2024 30/04/2024 30/04/2024
Valatility 32.9% 39.5% 329% 38.2% 35.1% 36.7%
Fair vatue of shares £5,038,147 £2 608,334 £5,153,084 £8,560,026 £11.506,000 £23.080.000
Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of
shares shares shares shares shares shares
At 1 May 2021 - - - 21,386 39.488 50,287
Granted in the year - 8512 19,243 - - -
Forfeited in the year - - (575) {1,321} {6,683) (6,682)
Outstanding at 3¢ April 2022 - §512 18,668 20,065 32,805 43,605
Granted in the year 6,356 - - - - -
Forfeited in the year - (1.500} {2,650) {517) - -
Outstanding at 30 April 2023 6,356 7,012 16,018 19,548 32,805 43 605

The expecled price wolatility is based or a benchmark of observable similar companies.
The equity settled share based payment cost charged to the income statement for the year ended 30 April 2023 was £9,510,000 (2022: £5,852,000).
The cash settled share-based payment cost charged lo the incorne statemant for the year ended 30 April 2023 was £1,488,000 (2022 £nil), this is shown within accruals

-at 30 April 2023.
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RESERVES
COMPANY

At 1 May 2021
Result far the year
At 30 Aprit 2022

Result for the year
At 30 April 2023

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There ara no contingent liabilities (2022: none).
PENSION COMMITMENTS

Nates to the Financial Statements {continued)
for the Year ended 30 April 2023

Retained
eamings
£'000

The Group operates a defined contribution personal pension scheme which 1s open to all staff. The pension cost for the year represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds and amounted to £2,577 000 (2022: £2,432,000). Pension contributions unpaid at the year engt were £733,000 (2022: £731,000).

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

The Company did not declare or pay a dividend in the year (2022: Enil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group considers its material retated parties to bz its subsidiary underntakings and Executive Committee members, The Group has taken advantage of the exemption

available under IAS 24, "Refaled Party Disclosures™, not to disclose details of transaclions with ts subsidary underakings.

Compensation paid 10 key management personnel by subsidiaries is disciosed in note 5. Share based payments issuet to management by the Company is disclosed in

note 26.

Supplier transactions occurred during the year between the Group, HG Pooled Management Limited and Inlermediate Capital Group plc. Transactions relate to providing
the services of the Directors. During the year ended 30 April 2023, £431.000 (2022: £353,000) refated to these transactions was charged through administrative
expenses. There were outstanding amounts payabie of £25,000 at 30 April 2023 (2022: £46,090).

During the year ended 30 Apsil 2023, IRIS Debtco Limited charged interest on amounts owed by IRIS Bidco Limited totaling £162,257,000 (2022: £144,887,000) and
there were autstznding armouns due of £1,514 466,000 at 30 April 2023 (2022; £1,352,149.000} as se! out in note 15. In addition, during the year ended 30 April 2023,
IRIS Debtco Limited was charged interest on amounts owed to IRIS Midco Limited lotalting £162,257,000 (2022: £144,887.000) and there were oulstanding amounts
payable of £1,514,406,000 at 30 April 2023 (2022: £1,352,149,000) as set aut in note 15,

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling imterasts in equity in the Group balance sheet represent the share of net assels of subsidiary undertakings helkd gutside the Group. The movernent in the
year comprises the profit atiributable ta such interests logether with movements in respect of corporale transactions and related exchange differences.

At 1 May

Effect of movement in exchange rates
Non-controlling interest's share of profit for the year
At 30 April
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2023 2022
£000 900
2,481 1,902

(163) 145

602 434
2,920 2,481
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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RECONCILIATION DF MANAGEMENT REVENUE, EBITDA AND OPERATING CASH FLOW
MANAGEMENT REVENUE

Management Revenue, which is a non-GAAP measure, represents the basis on which Management review the performance of the Group and is defined as revenue
excluding the impact of revenue deferrals arising on acguisitions and the defernng revenue on certain licence income streams. It may be reconciled as follows:

Year ended Year ended

30 April 30 April

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Revenus 319,080 255,724
Effect of fair value of contract liabilities on acquisition 2,402 1.774
Impact of deferring of teverue on ceriain professional services income streams 163 s
impact of deferring of revenue on certain licence income streams 28 15
321,673 257,862

Management Revertue

MANAGEMENT EBITDA
Management EBITDA represents the basis on which Management review the performance of the Group, taking account of non-trading and exceptional tems._ It may be
reconciled as folows:

Year ended Year ended

30 April 30 April
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Operating profit 17,142 19,407
Depreciation and amertisation
Depreciation and loss on disposal of pioperty, plant and equipment 11 2.730 3,519
Depreciation and loss on right-of-use assets 12 2,50 2438
Amortisation of intangibles 10 73.805 62,840
79,168 68,797
Acquisition related ilems
Transaction related costs 6 6,426 10,247
Post-acquisition imegralion costs 2,515 535
Revisions to deferred consideration for prior year acquisitions 541% -
Elfect of far value of conlract liabiktes on acquisition 2,402 1,774
16,754 12,556
Adjustments required ta racognise the cash impact of staff costs and asset rentals
Impact of recognising sales commissions and certain income streams as they fall due (2.558) {2.437)
Impact of recognising rents as they fall due (2.625) {1,744)
Impact of share based payments 10,928 5852
5815 1671
Matenat nan-recurring investrment expenditure
Transformational projects including Mext Generation Elements Product Suite 8,355 2.360
Caosts relating to the implementalion of a single, integrated graup wide ERP 5,832 7.212
14,187 9,572
Other adjustmenis
Reslructuring and one off legal costs including redundancies and office closures 1,693 1,682
Foreign exchange losses recognised below EBITDA 3,297 -
4,990 1.682
13E,054 113,685

Management EBITDA

Mapagement EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure used to monitor the performance of the business and is defined as operating profit before depreciabon, amontisation and
management exceplional 1tems. Managemen! exceptional items include transaclion related cosls, post-acquisition integralion costs, impact of deferral of sales
commissions & licence revenue (IFRS15), recognilion of rental expense (IAS17 vs IFRS 16), share based payments’ expense (IFRS2), material non.recusmng
expanditure on transformaltignal projects, and restructuring costs. This measure is in ling with management reporting and farms the basis of the Growps leverage
calcuiations as required by the finance agreements with lending banks, The impact of recognising sales commissions and certan income streams as they fall due of
£2,558,000 (2022: £2,437 (00) and the impact of recognising rents as they fall due of £2,625.000 (2022 £1.744,000) has also been removed as this impact was not
inchuded in the Management Accounts for the year ended 30 April 2023 and is consistent with our reporting {0 our shareholders and lenders.

MANAGEMENT OPERATING CASH FLOW

Management gperating cash flow. which is a non-GAAP measure, represents lhe basis on which Management review the performance of the Group and is defined as
net cash flows generated from operating activities belore tax, and after capital expenditure and ongoing development expenditure and exciudes management
exceptionals and the impact of recognising rents as they fall due. It may be reconciled as follows:

Year ended Year ended

30 April 30 April
2023 2022
€'000 £000
Net cash flows generated {rom operating activities 98,595 B5.554
Acquisition rglaled tems paid 9,077 9,222
Costs paid for ransformauonal projects including Next Generation Elements Product Suite 7.216 3,636
Restructuring cosis paid 1,175 1,506
Costs paid elating to the implementation of 2 single. integrated group wide ERP 6,143 7.503
Taxation paid 1,138 423
Decrease/ {increase) i client funds 24,692 4,136
Purchase of tangible assets {1.631) (1.591)
Development expendiure (7.620) (7.103}
Rent paid {2.734) (2.841)
Management operating cash flow 136,051 100,845
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CONTROLLING PARTY

According to the register maintained by the Campany, a number of limited partnerships which are managed by Hg Pooted Management Limited {"HgCapital™) (hokfing
through a nominee company) held a significant intarest in the ordinary shares of the Group's ultimate Parent Company, Perennial Neweo 2 Ltd, at 30 April 2023 and
subsequently 1o the date of approval of the financial statements. The Directars’ deem there not to be an ultimate controlling party as none of the limited partners in the
limited partnerships managed by HgCapital has an ownership of more than 20% of the issued share capital of the Company.

‘AUDIT EXEMPTION UNDER SECTION 473A OF THE COMPAN(ES ACT 2006

The Directars consider that subsidiaries of the Group are entitied 1o exemption fram the requirermnent to have an audit under the provision of section 479A of the
Companies Act 2006 ("the Act’) and the members have nol required the company to obtain an audit for he period in guestion in accordance with section 476 of the Act.

IRIS Deblco Lid has guaranteed the liabilities of the following subsidiaries in ordar that they qualify for the exemption from audit under section 479A, of the Companies
Act 2006 in respect of the year ended 30 April 2023:

Registration

number
123Comms Lid 04336436
APS Global Limited 06975759
Atomic IT Limited 02389545
Bacsflow Limited 11666142
Biostare Ltd 05532773
Blayhall Professional Limited 09315219
Datacode Tech Limited 11657994
Cataplan Holdings Limited 11218578
Oataplan Payroll Limited 06475128
Eurpwage Limited 05653596
FMP Global Bidco Ltd 10024670
FMP HR and Paytoll Software Lid 09811970
FMP Payroll Services Ltd 09855245
Hosted Accountants Lid 07794433
Indigo Marketing Ltd 06741443
Inervision Management Ltd 02812804
IRIS Bidco Lid 11369168
IRIS Business Software Ltd 02050075
RIS T anara Hnldings | imitec! 13506519
IRIS Group Ltd 03193619
IRIS Holdings Lid 04091087
IRIS Payrall Software Lid 05915912
IRIS Payrall Solutions Ltd 01863493
IRIS Resourcing Ltd 06229817
IRIS Software Group Ltd 06295385
IRIS US Holdings Ltd 13407074
ISAMS Limited 05652119
Kashfiow Sofwars Ltd 05674043
Kinetic Marketing & Design Limited 06344400
MCN Associates Ltd 060938254
Net-Waorx (2001) Limited B4278636
Paycheck Plus UK Lid 08889273
Paypius Limited 06642764
PTP Software Ltd 03166974
Resuits Squared Lid 05897771
Sandgate Systems Limited 07442104
Senta Saa$ Limited 08964403
Stafiolegy Limited 11759993
Star Professional Saftware Solutions Ltd 09296195
Sweep Limited 11666104
TaxFiler Ltd 08168004
The Practice Engine Group Ltd 03938072
Troncmasters Limited 11658096
Truancy Call Ltd 04125665

The Directors acknawtedga their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 with respect to accounting records and the preparation
of financial statements.
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